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approach—in new forms—is evident in the 
variety of articles in this issue.

Joseph A. Ranney starts us off with an 
insightful look at the unintended effects of 
the Civil Rights Cases of 1883. The cases 
are well known among scholars for declar-
ing the Civil Rights Act of 1875 unconstitu-
tional, thereby thwarting Congress’s attempt 
to prohibit racial discrimination in public ac-
commodations. Moving beyond the decision 
itself, Ranney shows how in the immediate 
aftermath ten Northern states enacted stat-
utes, modelled on the Civil Rights Act of 
1875, that protected Blacks’ rights to enjoy 
places of public accommodation. The state 
legislative reaction to the decision, he con-
cludes, might have been as significant as the 
decision itself. Ranney is Adrian Schoone 
Fellow and an adjunct professor at Marquette 
Law School.

The personal values and beliefs of indi-
vidual justices also loom large in the history 
of the Court. Jonathan Lurie offers an expert 
evaluation of Chief Justice William Howard 
Taft, whose papers he has thoroughly mined 
over the years in the process of writing two 
books about the Taft Court. Here Lurie offers 
us an inside look at Taft’s thinking through 

Just over a century ago, in 1923, Har-
vard legal scholar Charles Warren won the 
Pulitzer Prize in History for his magisterial 
work, The Supreme Court in United States 
History, published the year before. Later re-
vised and updated, at the time of its publi-
cation Warren’s history broke important new 
ground. “This book is not a law book,” War-
ren began in the Preface of what amounted 
to a nearly 1,600-page work, spread over three 
volumes. “It is a narrative of a section of our 
National history connected with the Supreme 
Court and is written for laymen and lawyers 
alike. As words are but ‘the skin of a living 
thought,’ so law cases as they appear in the 
law reports are but the dry bones of very vi-
tal social, political, and economic contests.” 
Warren was articulating the idea that if one 
really wants to understand the history of the 
Supreme Court, one cannot simply look at 
the Court’s decisions. Instead, there is much 
to be gained from taking account of the ex-
ternal forces, broadly defined, that both go 
into and that result from the doctrines devel-
oped by the Court. It’s a familiar idea to legal 
historians and to readers of this Journal. The 
field has come a long way since Warren wrote 
these words, of course, and this “externalist” 
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letters to his family members. While the let-
ters addressed a number of topics, including 
Taft’s efforts to design and create a new Court 
building, the bulk of the commentary per-
tains to judicial colleagues and contemporary 
politics. The sum of the letters, according to 
Lurie, reveals that Taft became, by the last 
years of life, “almost addicted” to classical 
legal thought, the jurisprudential style that 
emphasized formalism and the protection of 
property rights. Lurie is professor emeritus 
of history at Rutgers University-Newark.

As much as individual justices have 
shaped Supreme Court history, journalism 
and media coverage have figured prominently 
in public perceptions of the institution. While 
the 2022 leak of the draft decision in Dobbs 
v. Mississippi Women’s Health Organization, 
originally published online by Politico, vio-
lated the Court’s established norms, it was 
not the first time the Court had experienced 
a leak of one of its decisions. Abby R. West’s 
fascinating essay explores the career of 
1930s and 1940s Washington political jour-
nalist Drew Pearson, whose published “pre-
dictions” of the outcome of Supreme Court 
decisions reflected both a divided Court and 
a changing media environment. As West ex-
plains, Pearson regularly revealed inside in-
formation about the work of the Court and 
even turned his gossipy reporting into a radio 
program. West is currently a J.D. candidate at 
the Georgetown University Law Center.

The international context is frequently 
also a useful frame for understanding Amer-
ican constitutional development. In a path-
breaking essay, Leon Julius Biela provides a 
global perspective on the debate over Presi-
dent Franklin Roosevelt’s Court-packing Plan. 
In particular, Biela shows that the international 
context of the 1930s—especially the erosion 
of democracy in some European nations in the 
years leading up to World War II—shaped the 
American public’s reaction to the Plan. Both 
opponents and proponents of FDR’s proposal 

claimed that, at a time of rising totalitarian 
threats, their respective positions on Court 
packing furthered the cause of democracy. 
Biela is a Graduate Student of Modern His-
tory at University of Freiburg (Germany).

As Biela’s essay shows, Court-packing 
remains one of the most compelling issues 
on the minds of contemporary constitutional 
historians. One recent issue of the Journal 
contained three articles that in some way 
explored the topic, and in this issue Editor 
Emeritus Mel Urofsky reviews two recent 
books: Laura Kalman’s FDR’s Gambit: The 
Court Packing Fight and the Rise of Legal 
Liberalism and Michael Nelson’s Vaulting 
Ambition: FDR’s Campaign to Pack the 
Supreme Court. With his typical erudition 
and insight, Mel offers a compellingly writ-
ten evaluation of these two competing inter-
pretations of Roosevelt and the Court fight. 
Both books—one by a historian and one by 
a political scientist—offer fresh insights into 
the topic. And both show that the field of Su-
preme Court history—which encompasses 
the variety of  “externalist” approaches exem-
plified in this issue—is alive and well.

Finally, I would be remiss if I did not 
mention the recent passing of Justice Sandra 
Day O’Connor. She was a historic figure—as 
the first woman justice, of course, but also for 
having had the unique experience (in recent 
history) of having served as a state legislator 
prior to her service on the Court. As some 
commentators have noted, her experience in 
politics seemed to inform her judicial mod-
eration. In 2003 in The Majesty of the Law, 
a collection of her essays, O’Connor wrote, 
“Rare indeed is the legal victory—in court 
or legislature—that is not a careful byprod-
uct of an emerging social consensus.” While 
O’Connor was well known for occupying 
the ideological center of the Court, her post-
retirement work on behalf of civic education 
was perhaps equally notable. The founder of 
iCivics, a non-profit devoted to expanding 
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high quality civic education in our schools, 
Justice O’Connor believed deeply in educat-
ing each generation about how to sustain the 
American experiment, a goal shared by the 
Supreme Court Historical Society. “If we 
want our democracy to thrive,” she wrote in 

her final public remarks, “we must commit 
to educating our youth about civics, and to 
helping young people understand their cru-
cial role as informed, active citizens in their 
communities and in our nation.”

Rest in peace, Justice O’Connor.



Journal of Supreme Court History 49 (2024) 8–25 © 2024 Supreme Court Historical Society

century retreat from Reconstruction ideals, a 

view subsequently supported by many histo-

rians. The reality is more complex. Critics ar-

gued that the Act was constitutionally flawed 

almost from the time it was first introduced 

in Congress, and in recent years some histo-

rians have placed the Court’s decision within 

a framework of antifederalist jurisprudence 

extending from the founding of the United 

States to the present.2

Despite the extensive scholarly attention 

that the 1875 Act and the Civil Rights Cases 

have received, at least two perspectives remain 

largely unexplored: states’ roles in the evolu-

tion of public rights law, and the case’s place 

in the long history of efforts to work around 

controversial Court decisions. State law, par-

ticularly Northern state law, played a crucial 

role in preparing the legal soil out of which 

the Court’s decision grew and the response 

that it elicited. Many whites in Northern states 

In the ironically named Civil Rights 

Cases (1883), the Supreme Court of the 

United States struck down the heart of the 

federal Civil Rights Act of 1875, which pro-

vided that “all persons within the jurisdiction 

of the United States shall be entitled to the 

full and equal enjoyment of the accommoda-

tions, advantages, facilities, and privileges of 

inns, public conveyances on land or water, 

theaters, and other places of public amuse-

ment.”1 The Court’s decision ended nearly 

two decades of debate over whether the Thir-

teenth and Fourteenth Amendments guaran-

teed only a handful of basic civil rights or 

whether they also covered rights of access to 

establishments offering goods and services to 

the public—rights generally labeled “public 

rights” by their supporters, and “social rights” 

by their opponents. Many contemporary ob-

servers viewed the Civil Rights Cases as a 

key component of the nation’s late nineteenth 

“This Law, Though Dead, Did Speak”: 

The Civil Rights Cases and their 

Unforeseen Aftermath

Joseph A. Ranney
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who worked against slavery before the Civil 

War and supported a broad vision of racial 

equality after the war were uncomfortable en-

gaging with Black Americans on a personal 

level. They supported extension of basic civil 

and political rights to Blacks without qualm, 

but their personal discomfort—a discomfort 

circumspectly expressed by Joseph P. Brad-

ley, the author of the Civil Rights Cases ma-

jority opinion—contributed to a reluctance 

to extend public rights. Others declined to 

let such discomfort stand in the way of full 

equality, often because their wartime experi-

ences, particularly their respect for Black sol-

diers’ service, had transformed their views.

Concomitantly, white reformers were di-

vided as to whether the Thirteenth and Four-

teenth Amendments created a proactive or 

reactive role for Congress. Did the Amend-

ments envision comprehensive federal action 

against racial discrimination, or would that 

role be left to the states, with federal inter-

vention being authorized only when a state’s 

officials refused to extend to all of its citizens 

rights that had been granted to some? The 

Amendments’ authors could not overcome 

that division and left the issue open in or-

der to ensure the Amendments’ passage. The 

Supreme Court opted for a limited view of 

federal power, a view which the Civil Rights 

Cases underscored; but prior to that decision 

other courts, most notably Iowa’s supreme 

court, took a more expansive view, consistent 

with Justice John Marshall Harlan’s dissent-

ing opinion.

The Supreme Court’s history comprises 

not only its decisions but also the resistance 

that controversial decisions have elicited 

and efforts by state and federal lawmakers 

to work around those decisions. The Civil 

Rights Cases erected a firm barrier to di-

rect federal enforcement of public rights, 

but Justice Bradley left an opening in the 

barrier: states, if they wished, could pro-

tect public rights even if Congress could not. 

Public-rights supporters quickly turned from 

criticism of Bradley’s decision to exploita-

tion of his opening: in 1884 and 1885, ten 

Northern states enacted public rights laws 

closely modeled on the 1875 Act. Political 

pragmatism played a large part in that move-

ment. Black voters held the balance of politi-

cal power in several closely divided Northern 

states, and Democrats and Republicans alike 

supported the new laws in order to win their 

votes. But the wartime shifts in white opinion 

and postwar egalitarian sentiment that had 

driven support for the Act and opposition to 

the Court’s decision also played a role in the 

new laws’ enactment. The laws indicated that 

Northern fears of social equality, while far 

from dead, were at least beginning to recede.

Origins of the Public Rights Controversy

Despite the prominent role that debate 

over public rights played in American dis-

course after the Civil War, there was virtu-

ally no effort to place such rights within an 

intellectual framework prior to the 1840s. 

In the antebellum North, race relations were 

governed largely by custom, that is, prevail-

ing white views of natural “boundaries” and 

“repugnancies” between the races. As one 

Ohio judge stated, “No one scarcely would 

wish to confer upon [free Blacks] equal po-

litical rights, and none certainly would wish 

for social equality and the amalgamation 

of the races.”3 With few exceptions, even 

the most fervent white opponents of slav-

ery felt awkward interacting socially with 

their Black allies—“I have observed,” the 

abolitionist Lewis Tappan commented in 

1836, “that when the subject of acting out 

our profound principles in treating men irre-

spective of color is discussed heat is always 

produced”—and Black leaders took care to 

emphasize in their public appeals that they 

were seeking only basic freedoms and civil 

rights, not social equality.4
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Charles Sumner, a prominent Boston law-

yer and reformer then on the eve of a long ca-

reer in the U.S. Senate, was the first to frame 

public rights as a matter encompassed by 

state and federal guarantees of equal protec-

tion of the laws and as one implicating both 

racial and caste prejudice. In 1849, as part 

of an unsuccessful effort to integrate Bos-

ton’s public schools, he argued that denying 

Black children access to neighborhood public 

schools not only imposed a “stigma of infe-

riority and degradation” upon them, but also 

harmed children of both races by denying 

them the opportunity to meet and learn how 

to work together in a multi-racial society.5 

During the 1850s and 1860s, other public 

rights advocates invoked common-law rules 

holding that innkeepers and common carri-

ers must make their services available to all 

paying customers without class distinction. 

Most Northern courts agreed but indicated, 

explicitly or implicitly, that the duty to serve 

all did not preclude business proprietors 

from separating Black and white customers 

within their premises.6

The Civil War triggered a profound shift 

in the racial attitudes of Northern whites. 

In 1862, as hopes that the war would result 

in a quick Southern defeat vanished, many 

began to accept the idea that emancipation 

and recruitment of Blacks for service in the 

United States armed forces were essential for 

victory. The war brought many white soldiers 

into indirect or direct contact with Blacks 

for the first time; those contacts did not de-

stroy prejudice, but they eroded it. Stories 

of Black troops’ courage in combat gener-

ated admiration and respect among white 

Stories of Black troops’ courage in combat during the Civil War generated admiration and respect among white 

soldiers and civilians alike, together with a belief that Black Americans were now owed not only freedom but a 

meaningful measure of equality. This is the only known photograph of an African-American Union soldier with his 

family. We do not know his name, but it is likely he was from Cecil County, Maryland, where the photo was found.
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soldiers and civilians alike, together with a 

belief that Black Americans were now owed 

not only freedom but a meaningful measure 

of equality. During debate over the 1875 Act, 

Massachusetts congressman Benjamin Butler 

provided a striking example, describing his 

viewing of the bodies of  Black soldiers un-

der his command at the 1864 battle of New 

Market Heights, Virginia, after they had taken 

a Confederate redoubt at terrible cost:

As I looked on their bronzed faces 

upturned in the shining sun to 

heaven as if in mute appeal against 

the wrongs of the country for which 

they had given their lives  .  .  .  feel-

ing I had wronged them in the past 

and believing what was the future 

of my country to them, . . . I swore 

to myself a solemn oath .  .  .  to de-

fend the rights of these men who 

have given their blood for me and 

my country  .  .  . From that hour all 

prejudice was gone . . . and as long 

as their rights are not equal to the 

rights of other men under this Gov-

ernment, I am with them against all 

comers.7

Other Northern whites experienced similar 

emotions, ranging from veterans who mixed 

with their Black colleagues in social organi-

zations to lawmakers who invoked a sense 

of obligation in urging expansion of the law 

to protect Black civil, political, and public 

rights.8 But many, including most of the jus-

tices who made up the Civil Rights Cases 

majority, had neither served in the war nor 

undergone such a conversion. Bradley and 

his colleagues Samuel Blatchford and Hor-

ace Gray had busied themselves with cor-

porate law practice and judicial work during 

and immediately after the war, and do not 

appear to have taken any particular interest 

in the implications of emancipation prior 

to joining the Court.9 Bradley initially had 

some sympathy for strong national authority 

over civil rights, but as his tenure advanced 

his sympathy faded, likely in part because 

he harbored doubts “whether .  .  .  the negro 

is entitled as a matter of right to ride in the 

same cars, sit at the same table, and occupy 

the same rooms at the hotels as the whites 

and whether Congress can make this law if it 

is not so.”10 Chief Justice Morrison R. Waite 

was a centrist Republican who had consis-

tently viewed the war’s main purpose as pres-

ervation of the Union rather than emancipa-

tion and was temperamentally sympathetic 

to state rights.11 Stephen J. Field served as 

a judge throughout the Civil War period; 

he regularly dabbled in Democratic politics 

and occasionally tailored his public views 

to appeal to the party’s Negrophobic base.12 

William Woods and Stanley Matthews both 

saw active duty during the war. Woods’ war-

time views, like Waite’s, were grounded on 

preservation of the Union rather than eman-

cipation; during Reconstruction he reliably 

defended Black rights as a federal judge in 

the postwar South but indicated that he was 

comfortable with rules requiring separation 

of the races in public establishments. Mat-

thews participated in the antebellum antislav-

ery movement, but after the war he largely 

put civil rights aside and devoted himself to 

corporate practice.13

Samuel F. Miller and John Marshall 

Harlan wrestled most deeply with the war’s 

implications for Black rights. Both were 

born into small-scale slave owning families 

in Kentucky, and although both personally 

disliked slavery—Miller freed his slaves and 

moved to Iowa in 1850 after efforts to set 

his state on a course to gradual emancipa-

tion failed—and both served briefly in the 

war, they followed different courses dur-

ing Reconstruction. Miller’s early life gave 

him an appreciation of the injustices done 

to Blacks—he publicly denounced the dra-

conian Black Codes adopted by Southern 

states immediately after emancipation, stat-

ing that they “do but change the form of 
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slavery”—but as a judge his antifederalist 

sentiments proved stronger.14

Miller was perhaps best known for his 

opinion in the Slaughterhouse Cases (1873), 

a set of cases in which New Orleans butchers 

argued that a state law requiring them to use a 

central processing facility for health reasons 

violated the Fourteenth Amendment’s stric-

tures that “No State shall make or enforce 

any law which shall abridge the privileges or 

immunities of citizens of the United States; 

nor shall any State deprive any person of life, 

liberty, or property, without due process of 

law; nor deny to any person  .  .  .  the equal 

protection of the laws.” Miller interpreted the 

Amendment’s reference to federal privileges 

and immunities narrowly, indicating that they 

were limited to a small set of  basic rights in-

cluding the right to travel, to hold property, to 

enjoy personal safety, to exercise one’s free-

dom for one’s own benefit, and to have equal 

access with other citizens to the legal system. 

It was the states’ prerogative to grant or deny 

other rights as they saw fit. But Miller also 

stated broadly that the “pervading purpose” 

of the Civil War Amendments was to guar-

antee “the security and firm establishment 

of [Blacks’] freedom” and “the protection 

of the newly-made freeman and citizen from 

the oppressions of those who had formerly 

exercised unlimited dominion over him.” 

Bradley, who dissented, argued that Miller’s 

construction of the Privileges or Immuni-

ties Clause was too narrow: it included, for 

example, many of the protections granted in 

the federal Bill of Rights that Miller had not 

mentioned.15

Harlan’s views underwent substantial 

change in the crucible of Reconstruction 

politics. He was repelled by white Kentuck-

ians’ continuing postwar commitment to 

white supremacy and their willingness to 

use violence to achieve that goal. As he tried 

to build a Republican Party in his state, 

United States Congressman Robert Brown Elliott of South Carolina spoke on the floor of the House of Represen-

tatives on January 6, 1874 during congressional debates over the Civil Rights Act, which was signed into law 

in 1875.
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he became increasingly sympathetic to the 

party’s Reconstruction goals. During his 1871 

campaign for governor, he proclaimed that 

“[h]ad the Federal Government . . . left [newly 

freed slaves] to the tender mercies of those 

who were unwilling to protect them in life, 

liberty and property, it would have deserved 

the contempt of freedmen the world over.” In 

late 1875, during his second campaign, he 

dismissed fears that riding or dining next to 

Blacks would lead to a breakdown of social 

order and he defended the 1875 Act, although 

he doubted that the Act applied to “internal 

[segregation] regulations” observed by pri-

vate business owners.16

Postwar Debate: Public Rights, the Civil 

War Amendments, and State Courts

The framers of the Reconstruction 

Amendments did not focus on public rights. 

They intentionally worded the Thirteenth 

Amendment’s Enforcement Clause, autho-

rizing Congress to enforce the prohibition of 

slavery “by appropriate legislation”—a clause 

subsequently much relied on by public-rights 

advocates—in general terms. Their main goal 

was to extirpate slavery, and they feared that 

any elaboration of Congress’s powers to that 

end would create controversy and jeopardize 

the Amendment’s passage.17 Similar con-

cerns arose during debate over the Fourteenth 

Amendment: lawmakers had to balance the 

desire for equality—a concept that had become 

enshrined in the American canon of values in 

part because of its lack of definition—against 

an equally strong fear of centralized political 

power. In order to obtain the votes necessary 

for ratification, supporters assured Republican 

centrists that the Amendment would not cre-

ate new rights but would merely require states 

to make existing rights available to all citizens 

regardless of race. They intentionally did not 

define what those rights were.18

State courts addressed the Amendments’ 

applicability to public rights in a series of 

school segregation cases during the late 

1860s and early 1870s. The supreme courts 

of California and Indiana summarily rejected 

an argument that denial of access to estab-

lishments serving the public was a badge of 

slavery prohibited by the Thirteenth Amend-

ment. The Amendment’s purpose, said In-

diana chief justice Samuel Buskirk, was to 

end slavery and nothing more. “As to the 

matter of social and political rights, the Af-

rican was left . . . subject to all the inconve-

niences and burdens incident to his color and 

race, except his former one of servitude.”19 

Buskirk’s court and the Ohio and Nevada 

supreme courts likewise rejected arguments 

that the Fourteenth Amendment extended to 

public rights. Ohio justice Luther Day antici-

pated Miller’s decision in the Slaughterhouse 

Cases, concluding that the federal privileges 

or immunities guaranteed by the Amendment 

included a limited set of basic civil rights but 

not political or public rights. “A broader in-

terpretation,” said Day, “. . . might work such 

limitations of the power of the States to man-

age and regulate their local institutions and 

affairs as were never contemplated by the 

amendment.”20

Other state courts took a broader view 

of the Fourteenth Amendment, holding that 

it not only guaranteed access to establish-

ments serving the public but prohibited intra-

mural segregation, that is, separation of the 

races within those establishments. In Coger 

v. Northwestern Union Packet Co. (1873), 

Emma Coger sued the packet company af-

ter she was ejected from a steamboat dining 

room, having been informed that Black pas-

sengers could not eat there and must instead 

eat on deck. In holding that the company’s 

segregation policy violated the Amendment, 

Iowa justice Joseph Beck laid out a frame-

work that would provide guidance for public-

rights supporters during the enactment of 

the 1875 Act and its aftermath. He began by 

echoing Sumner’s arguments against caste 

from a quarter-century before: in his view, 
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the Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause 

followed “[t]he doctrines of natural law and 

of Christianity [which] forbid that rights be 

denied on the ground of race or color.” The 

Amendment’s language, said Beck, “is com-

prehensive and . . . includes within its broad 

terms every right arising in the affairs of 

life.”21

Beck conceded that the Amendment did 

not extend to “social rights,” but he viewed 

public rights as contractual, not social in na-

ture. Black patrons’ right of access to goods 

and services they were willing to pay for 

was surely a basic civil right. Beck brushed 

aside concerns about social equality and ra-

cial mixing. Emma Coger, he said, “could 

not have attained any social standing by be-

ing permitted to share the treatment awarded 

to other passengers; she claimed no social 

privilege, but substantial privileges pertain-

ing to her property and the protection of her 

person.” Beck acknowledged Miller’s nar-

row definition of federal privileges and im-

munities in the Slaughterhouse Cases, but he 

focused mainly on Miller’s broad statement 

of the Fourteenth Amendment’s general pur-

pose, namely, in Beck’s words, “[t]o relieve 

citizens of the Black race from the effects of 

this prejudice, to protect them in person and 

property from its spirit. We are disposed to 

construe these laws,” he said, “according to 

their very spirit and intent.” In 1882, Penn-

sylvania’s supreme court seconded Beck’s 

views, holding that a recently-enacted state 

statute prohibiting school segregation “is in 

harmony with the spirit and object of the 

14th Amendment.”22

The 1875 Act Arrives

The 1875 Act’s path to enactment be-

gan in May 1870 when Sumner, now a U.S. 

senator, introduced a sweeping public rights 

bill prohibiting denial of equal access to rail-

roads and other public transportation, hotels, 

theaters, “houses of public entertainment,” 

cemeteries, jury panels, and schools.23 Con-

gressional Republicans had majorities suf-

ficient to overcome the solid wall of Demo-

cratic opposition to public rights, but centrist 

Republicans had serious reservations about 

Sumner’s bill based on the Fourteenth 

Amendment. Maine senator Lot Morrill, an 

early skeptic, spoke for centrists when he ar-

gued that the Amendment merely confirmed 

Blacks’ citizenship, that the federal privi-

leges the Amendment protected were limited 

to a few basic civil rights and that Congress 

had no power to create new rights.24

Ironically, one of the strongest rejoin-

ders came from a Southern Republican, 

Mississippi senator James Alcorn. “By the 

adoption of the [Civil War] amendments,” 

said Alcorn, “the powers of the Government 

were enlarged.  .  .  .  I am here to declare the 

unmistakable strength of the Government, 

and its undoubted and unlimited power over 

the questions now under debate.” The bill 

did not promote social equality—social in-

teraction “exists and is governed by its own 

laws”—but only equality before the law. 

The Slaughterhouse Cases, he said, did not 

involve racial issues and therefore did not 

enter into the debate; and in any case, the 

basic privileges and immunities which Miller 

had conceded were directly protected by the 

Fourteenth Amendment could not be enjoyed 

without protection of related rights. For ex-

ample, Black Americans could not fully en-

joy their right to travel freely without full and 

equal access to railroads and other forms of 

public transportation.25

Black representatives in Congress pro-

vided strong moral and constitutional sup-

port for public rights during debate. Robert 

Elliott of South Carolina made the most 

comprehensive case for the Act in a cel-

ebrated speech in early 1874. He seconded 

Alcorn’s argument that the Slaughterhouse 

Cases were not on point: the issue there was 
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the extent to which a state’s police power to 

promote public safety allowed it to regulate 

businesses posing a health hazard, not ra-

cial discrimination. Elliott pointed, as other 

public-rights supporters had done, to Miller’s 

broad statement about the pervading pur-

pose of the Civil Rights Amendments,26 and 

he made a particularly powerful argument 

for an expansive reading of the Fourteenth 

Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause. Not-

withstanding Miller’s narrow construction of 

rights directly protected by the Amendment, 

Elliott contended that “[i]f a State denies to 

me rights which are common to all her other 

citizens, she violates this amendment, unless 

she can show . . . that she does it in the legiti-

mate exercise of the police power” . . . and it 

was not “pretended anywhere that  .  .  .  [o]ur 

exclusion from the public inn, from the sa-

loon and table of the steamboat, from the 

sleeping-coach on the railway . . . are an ex-

ercise of [that] power.”27

Other Black representatives supple-

mented Elliott’s arguments. South Carolinians 

Richard Cain, Alonzo Ransier, and Joseph 

Rainey addressed the distinction between so-

cial equality and public rights, emphasizing 

that the Act sought only to protect the latter. 

Ransier went further, arguing that the feder-

ally protected rights referenced by Miller in 

the Slaughterhouse Cases were not exclu-

sive, and charging that the Act’s opponents 

were seeking to “construe [the Constitution] 

for purposes of evasion.” James Rapier of Al-

abama sounded the same theme more bluntly. 

The Civil War, he said, “decided that national 

rights are paramount to state rights, and that 

liberty and equality before the law should be 

coextensive with the jurisdiction of the Stars 

and Stripes.”  The Act would “simply . . . give 

practical effect to that decision.”28

At first, the eloquence of the supporters 

was not enough to overcome centrists’ con-

tinuing doubts. Referrals to House and Sen-

ate committees, who could not agree on the 

Act’s wording, and opponents’ delaying tactics 

consumed several years. Throughout debate, 

the Act’s supporters avoided the question of 

whether it prohibited intramural segregation 

and focused instead on issues of access. How-

ever, fears that the Act would be interpreted 

to require integration of schools drove much 

of the opposition from Democrats and cen-

trist Republicans alike.29 By 1874, centrists 

were particularly concerned about inclusion 

of schools and cemeteries in the Act, provi-

sions which crossed many Northern whites’ 

personal lines of racial tolerance. Republi-

cans’ loss of the House in the fall 1874 elec-

tions galvanized centrists into action. Cain 

and other Black congressmen, recognizing 

that any chance to obtain a public rights law 

would soon disappear, agreed to removal of 

the school and cemetery provisions from the 

bill, and after some additional procedural 

James Alcorn, a moderate Republican senator during 

the Reconstruction era in Mississippi, favored adop-

tion of the Civil Rights Act of 1875. He argued that it 

did not enforce social equality but only equality before 

the law.
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maneuvering the Act was passed two days 

before the 1873–75 Congress adjourned.30

The Supreme Court’s Decision:  

A Conservative Culmination

The 1875 Act generated test cases and 

constitutional challenges almost from the 

moment it became law. In March 1875, weeks 

after the Act’s passage, Tennessee circuit 

judge Halmer Emmons opined that the Act 

was unconstitutional: he instructed a grand 

jury that the Thirteenth Amendment abol-

ished the institution of slavery and nothing 

more. Relying heavily on the Slaughterhouse 

Cases, Emmons added that the Fourteenth 

Amendment did not permit Congress to 

regulate public rights: only the states could 

do so.31 By contrast, Minnesota district judge 

Rensselaer Nelson instructed another grand 

jury three months later that while he “ha[d] 

no sympathy with this kind of Congressional 

legislation,” Congress had the power to act in 

all cases “where race . . . furnishes the only 

reason for the commission of [a] wrong or 

outrage.” Nelson agreed with the Act’s sup-

porters that the Slaughterhouse Cases did 

not govern the Act’s constitutionality because 

they did not involve race, and he pointed 

to an earlier Supreme Court decision, Mc-

Culloch v. Maryland (1819), in support of 

his belief that Congress had broader power 

over public rights than Miller had suggested. 

Furthermore, he believed that any distinction 

between state and individual action was il-

logical when it came to race.32 Several two-

judge panels assigned to hear cases under the 

Act deadlocked as to its constitutionality, in-

cluding one on which Blatchford, then a cir-

cuit judge, was serving. These cases, along 

with several others, made their way to the 

Supreme Court between 1875 and 1880. For 

reasons not altogether clear, the Court repeat-

edly deferred oral argument and its decision 

as the cases accumulated.33

The Supreme Court finally issued its de-

cision on October 15, 1883.34 Bradley, writing 

for the majority, began by making the Court’s 

This sentimental engraving depicts Columbia (the United States) passing the Civil Rights Act of 1875 to the hands 

of Black Americans. The act protected Blacks from discrimination by state and city governments and prohibited 

private businesses, such as inns and theaters, from denying them access. 
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concern for state rights clear; there was no 

mention of McCulloch or Rapier’s argument 

for a national concept of equality. Bradley 

held that the Fourteenth Amendment applied 

only to state action, not individual action—an 

argument that opponents of the Act had made 

during its debate, but on which the Act’s sup-

porters had not focused, and one which the 

Court had endorsed in 1880.35 The Amend-

ment limited Congress’ powers to enactment 

of “corrective legislation” when states en-

acted laws or took action that discriminated 

against Black citizens in violation of the 

Amendment.36 Any other rule, said Bradley, 

would allow Congress to “establish a code of 

municipal law regulative of all private rights 

between man and man in society.” However, 

he said, persons injured by private acts of dis-

crimination “may presumably be vindicated 

by resort to the laws of the State for redress,” 

and states were free to regulate private dis-

crimination if they chose to do so.37

Bradley then turned to whether private 

acts of discrimination constituted “badges 

or incidents of slavery” prohibited by the 

Thirteenth Amendment. Relying heavily on 

the Civil Rights Act of 1866 as a guide to 

the Amendment’s intent, Bradley concluded, 

in line with Miller’s opinion in the Slaugh-

terhouse Cases, that the Amendment only 

covered “fundamental rights which are the 

essence of civil freedom,” namely the right 

to travel freely, own property and make con-

tracts, and to have the same access to and 

rights within the justice system as whites. 

He concluded by pronouncing that “[w]hen a 

man has emerged from slavery, . . . there must 

be some stage in the progress of his elevation 

when he takes the rank of a mere citizen, and 

ceases to be the special favorite of the laws.” 

The nation had not extended public rights to 

free Black persons before the war, thus, he 

reasoned, public rights could not be consid-

ered fundamental privileges of citizenship.38

Harlan, despite experiencing some trepi-

dation about his role as the lone defender of 

the Act in such a momentous case, issued 

a lengthy dissent that endorsed most of the 

arguments advanced in favor of the Act and 

added some points of his own. He opened by 

echoing Congressmen Ransier and Rapier, 

arguing that “[t]he substance and spirit” of 

the Civil War Amendments had been “sacri-

ficed by a subtle and ingenious criticism.”39 

Like Judge Nelson in Minnesota, Harlan 

pointed to the Court’s prewar policy of inter-

preting Congress’s power expansively, citing 

McCulloch and also noting that the antebel-

lum Court had used expansive interpretation 

to facilitate extradition of fugitive slaves 

from the North.40 “I insist,” he proclaimed, 

that Congress “may  .  .  .  do for human lib-

erty and the fundamental rights of American 

citizenship, what it did, with the sanction of 

this court, for the protection of slavery and 

the rights of the masters of fugitive slaves.”41

Harlan then discussed the Thirteenth 

Amendment, arguing that its Enforcement 

Clause extended to direct federal prohibition 

of all race-based discrimination by states 

and individuals. He noted the common law’s 

longstanding prohibition of discrimination 

by hotels and common carriers, and he ad-

vanced a novel argument as to other busi-

nesses based on Munn v. Illinois (1876), in 

which the Court had held that legislatures 

have near-plenary power to regulate the op-

eration of businesses that are “of public con-

sequence, and affect the community at large.” 

All businesses which served the public, 

he argued, met this standard and thus were 

subject to federal and state regulation under 

Munn. Furthermore, racial discrimination by 

such businesses clearly imposed a badge of 

servitude on Black patrons.42

Harlan turned next to the Fourteenth 

Amendment. He argued that his Munn-based 

analysis also applied to that Amendment’s 

Enforcement Clause, which was similar to 

the Thirteenth Amendment’s clause. He ex-

tended his Munn analysis by arguing that 

even if one accepted Bradley’s position that 
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the Amendment limited Congress to regu-

lation of state action, operators of public 

businesses should be regarded as agents of 

the state.43 Furthermore, in his view, the En-

forcement Clause refuted Bradley’s holding 

that the Amendment allowed Congress only 

reactive, not proactive powers: it authorized 

Congress to secure for Blacks the full scope 

of their rights as citizens and their right to 

be free of racial discrimination by individu-

als as well as states. Like earlier supporters 

of the Act, Harlan pointed to Miller’s broad 

statement of the Amendments’ purpose in the 

Slaughterhouse Cases.44 Harlan agreed that 

“no legal right of a citizen is violated by the 

refusal of others to maintain merely social 

relations with him,” but he also agreed with 

the Act’s congressional supporters that the 

Act applied to legal, not social rights. Whites 

could choose not to mix with Blacks in pub-

lic places, but they could not deny Blacks 

access to those places. He concluded by tak-

ing issue with Bradley’s pronouncement that 

Blacks must cease to be “the special favorite 

of the laws”; it was “scarcely just” to say that 

they had ever been so.45

Reaction: A Divided Initial Response

Public reaction to the Court’s decision 

came quickly and divided largely along racial 

lines. Much of the Northern press defended 

the decision, arguing that it was unsurprising 

in light of the constitutional criticisms voiced 

during Congressional debate over the 1875 

Act and that the Act was nothing more than 

a misguided effort to enforce social equality. 

Blacks can “only hope to improve their so-

cial condition,” the Chicago Tribune argued, 

“by availing themselves of the equal politi-

cal, civil, business and educational facilities 

which the Constitution guarantees to them.” 

Contrary to opponents’ charges that the Civil 

Rights Cases struck a blow against racial 

equality, in the Tribune’s view the Court had 

held only that “Congress can give [Blacks] 

no superior rights and no special protection 

not enjoyed by the white man.”46 The Na-

tion, at that time perhaps the most influen-

tial American magazine catering to an elite 

readership, took a more detached but no less 

dismissive attitude. In its view, the decision 

“shows how completely the extravagant ex-

pectations as well as the fierce passions of 

the war have died out,” and the Act’s failure 

lay in the fact that in 1875, Blacks had not 

“come . . . distinctively into view as citizens 

and property-holders, theater-goers and trav-

elers.”47 A few newspapers expressed tepid 

regret, often based on the grossly unrealistic 

assumption that the Act had settled the public 

rights issue and had contributed to a perma-

nent stabilization of race relations.48 Only a 

handful ventured anything like direct criti-

cism of the decision.49

Black leaders and their white allies were 

incensed. One week after the Court handed 

down its decision, a mass protest meeting 

took place at Lincoln Hall in Washington 

featuring Frederick Douglass and Robert In-

gersoll, a nationally known white freethinker, 

as the principal speakers. Douglass avoided 

direct criticism of the Court as an institution, 

but he did not spare the decision itself. He 

echoed Harlan’s view that the majority had 

improperly applied a cramped construction 

to the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Amend-

ments and had ignored the true spirit and 

intent of the Amendments: to extirpate all ra-

cial discrimination and all other stains left by 

slavery. In his view, the distinction between 

state and private action was sophistical: states 

could only act through their citizens. Doug-

lass criticized the Northern press for pro-

moting confusion between social and public 

rights, and, echoing Sumner, he denounced 

the decision as “a concession to race pride, 

selfishness and meanness [which] will be re-

ceived with joy by every upholder of caste 

in the land.” The Act, he said, “though dead, 

did speak,” and was “a banner on the outer 

wall of American liberty.” Ingersoll praised 
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Harlan and agreed with him that the Court 

had rendered the Fourteenth Amendment 

toothless by confining it to state action.50

Black leaders in cities throughout the 

North called similar meetings which voiced 

similar sentiments, and some white Repub-

lican leaders also spoke up. In December, 

Iowa senator James Wilson responded to the 

Civil Rights Cases by introducing a proposed 

constitutional amendment giving Congress 

broad power to guarantee equal protection of 

the law to all American citizens. He criticized 

Bradley’s decision in detail, labeling it “a de-

nial of the old and familiar saying that ‘revo-

lutions never go backward’ ”; but his measure 

soon died in committee.51

A New Wave of State Public Rights Laws

What was to be done? Open defiance of 

the Court’s decision was out of the question. 

Instead, civil rights leaders seized upon Brad-

ley’s statement that the Constitution did not 

preclude states from enacting public-rights 

laws. They urged their followers to organize 

and press for such laws in their home states.52 

They recognized that Blacks’ newly-won suf-

frage rights provided their strongest lever. 

“Somebody,” one speaker at a Chicago mass 

meeting proclaimed, “must be made to feel 

that the ballot in the hands of the colored 

was a power. They should stick to a party as 

long as it did right, but when it failed to do 

that, they must look for someone else to tie 

to.” Howard University president William 

Patton underscored the point for white Re-

publicans. “A million colored votes, distrib-

uted throughout the States, in many of which 

parties are nearly balanced, . . . will not long 

be unheeded.”53 Northern politicians of both 

parties heeded the message. It had played a 

central role in northern Democrats’ decision 

Members of the Supreme Court who decided the Civil Rights Cases in 1883. Joseph P. Bradley, the author of the 

decision, sits at left; John Marshall Harlan, the lone dissenter, stands second from right. While the decision struck 

down the 1875 Act’s protections for Black citizens, it also inaugurated a wave of state-level action, both legislative 

and judicial, as to public rights that came to play a crucial if little-remembered role in American civil rights history.



20 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY 

in the early 1870s to adopt a “New Depar-

ture” doctrine, which called for acceptance 

of the Civil War Amendments as a perma-

nent feature of the postwar legal landscape 

and abandonment of open professions of 

white supremacy; and it had not lost its force 

among Democrats. Likewise, Republicans 

took pains after 1883 to assure Black vot-

ers that the party would not take them for 

granted.54

The 1875 Act provided an obvious tem-

plate for new state public rights laws. News-

papers in Kansas, which had enacted a public 

rights law in 1874, trumpeted the state-law 

strategy immediately after the Civil Rights 

Cases decision was handed down,55 and 

during the 1884–1885 legislative cycle ten 

Northern states, four of which were closely 

divided politically and had substantial Black 

populations,56 took the cue and enacted such 

laws.57 Ohio was the first, and its enactment 

process vividly demonstrated the new world 

of bipartisan competition for Black support.

In November 1883, Ohio voters elected 

Democrat George Hoadly as governor. Hoadly 

was not a typical postwar Democrat: he had 

been a Free Soiler before the war and had rep-

resented Cincinnati’s Black school district in 

its successful effort to secure its fair share of 

city school taxes. Hoadly believed that Black 

votes had given him his victory, and he and 

many fellow Democrats hoped to consolidate 

Black support by supporting a public rights 

law. When the legislature, divided nearly 

evenly between the two parties, met in early 

1884, both Hoadly and his Republican pre-

decessor publicly urged enactment of such 

a law.58 William Crowell, a Democratic state 

senator, promptly introduced a bill in which 

Peter Clark, a long-time Black leader in Ohio, 

played an important part.

Clark had been educated at Oberlin 

College and had helped found the National 

Equal Rights League in 1864. He was a firm 

believer in strategic use of Black voting 

power, and during the 1870s he had identified 

at different times as a Republican, a Demo-

crat, and an independent.59 In 1883, he sensed 

that opportunity lay for the moment with 

the Ohio Democracy, and he acted accord-

ingly. Even though Crowell’s bill was only 

a watered-down version of the 1875 Act—

it covered only inns, public transport, and 

theaters, and “other places of public amuse-

ment”—some Democrats objected to any 

bill, and passage was uncertain until Clark 

addressed the Democratic legislative caucus. 

In early February 1884, the bill passed by a 

nearly unanimous vote. The Cleveland Ga-

zette, Ohio’s leading Black newspaper, was 

philosophical about the partial nature of the 

victory. “Whether the bill passed is intended 

as a bait to catch the colored voters or not,” 

it reasoned, it was “nevertheless a step in the 

right direction, and we should be thankful for 

favors that are good, if ‘the devil did fetch 

’em.’ ” 60

Black activists in other states helped 

maintain a steady stream of pressure to enact 

public rights laws. They organized national 

conventions in Louisville and Pittsburgh and 

local meetings from Rhode Island to Ne-

braska, publicized the conventions’ calls for 

new laws, and organized signings of mass 

petitions that were forwarded to state legis-

latures.61 In January 1885, George Downing, 

a long-time Black leader in Rhode Island 

who had also played a role in enactment of 

the 1875 Act, published a nationally circu-

lated letter in which he congratulated the 

Democratic Party on Grover Cleveland’s re-

cent election to the presidency, appealed to 

the party’s “more mellow mood touching the 

interest of the colored man,” and urged that 

“the colored vote may be won, which is bet-

ter than to intimidate it.” Downing also re-

minded white lawmakers that he and his col-

leagues were seeking not social equality but 

public rights, which “involved no disregard 

of vested interests, proprietary claim, [or] 

invasion of any private or domiciliary right.” 

Regard for “merit,  .  .  .  respect, irrespective 
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of color, . . . including natural and just aspi-

rations” was paramount; the campaign’s goal 

was simply “fair play.”62

As in Ohio, surprisingly little opposi-

tion to public rights laws surfaced in other 

state legislatures that passed such laws. No 

lawmakers urged colleagues to be guided 

by Bradley’s rule of narrow construction of 

guaranteed rights. Very few objected that 

public rights laws would foster social equal-

ity or racial amalgamation. In several states, 

Republicans and Democrats sparred openly 

as to who should get credit with their black 

constituents for passing the bill; in New Jer-

sey, two assemblymen nearly came to blows 

over the issue. Some Democratic legislators 

complained that the laws would give blacks 

preferential treatment over whites, but others 

such as Indiana state senator W.C. Thomp-

son, the chief sponsor of his state’s bill, re-

sponded that the laws would do no harm and 

might do some good:

Senators have declared upon this 

floor that the colored man is entitled 

to all the rights and privileges of 

the white man, and I don’t see what 

harm there is in ingrafting that into a 

law. We know a prejudice against the 

colored man is seen every day. . . . I 

am a philanthropist. I believe in God 

Almighty wherever I see Him in the 

face of a human being.63

Why did the fierce opposition to public 

rights that had marked debate over the 1875 

Act disappear so completely from state de-

bates in the wake of the Civil Rights Cases? 

Contemporary observers did not address the 

question, but likely there were several fac-

tors behind the disappearance. Northern par-

ties’ desire to attract Black votes and resid-

ual egalitarian sentiments among Northern 

whites played a role, and in the mid-1880s 

most whites believed that public rights laws 

would not require racial mixing within a 

public establishment even if Blacks were 

admitted: for example, Black pupils could be 

educated in separate buildings or classrooms 

and Black theatergoers and restaurant pa-

trons could be seated in separate sections.64 

But Bradley’s opinion likely also played a 

role. The Court had sanctioned state protec-

tion of public rights, and unlike their federal 

counterparts, state lawmakers who privately 

disliked public rights had no constitutional 

grounds for opposing such laws.

Conclusion: The Hidden Modern  

Importance of the Civil Rights Cases

Time has eroded the force and the re-

spectability of the Civil Rights Cases. The 

view that the decision’s chief importance lies 

in its facilitation of the Jim Crow era remains 

common among historians. Justice Harlan’s 

broad construction of the “badges of slavery” 

against which Congress may take direct ac-

tion under the Thirteenth Amendment has 

prevailed over Justice Bradley’s narrower 

construction, and during the 1960s the Su-

preme Court endorsed the suggestion raised 

during the 1875 Act debates that Congress 

could enact public rights laws under the fed-

eral commerce clause if not the Fourteenth 

Amendment.65 But the Civil Rights Cases 

can also be viewed from the perspectives 

discussed in this article; and although these 

perspectives may not restore its luster, they 

highlight the decision’s continuing impor-

tance in the twenty-first century.

First, if the Supreme Court’s decision 

was transformative in that it sharply cabined 

the scope of federal civil rights reform, it 

was also transformative in that it inaugurated 

a wave of state-level action, both legislative 

and judicial, as to public rights that came 

to play a crucial if little-remembered role 

in American civil rights history. The state 

public rights laws enacted in response to the 

Court’s decision generated a wide variety of 

legal issues that preoccupied Northern courts 

for the better part of a century. What should 
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the scope of the laws be? Nearly all prohib-

ited race-based discrimination in hotels and 

public transportation; several included omni-

bus clauses that typically covered “all other 

places of public accommodation and amuse-

ment,” and each state added other categories 

of its own. These choices were the subject of 

much debate in state legislatures and were 

frequently modified in later years. Should 

public rights statutes be construed liberally 

to include types of discrimination close in 

nature to listed categories? Courts regularly 

confronted that question and reached widely 

varying results.66

Other issues also arose. Should employ-

ers be held vicariously liable for discrimina-

tory acts by their employees? Again, court 

decisions varied, but a steady trend in favor 

of vicarious liability developed during the 

early twentieth century.67 Perhaps the most 

important question of all, one which the 1875 

Act and the Civil Rights Cases had avoided, 

was whether public rights laws allowed seg-

regation within an establishment to which 

Blacks were admitted—for example, as in 

Emma Coger’s case, whether Black steam-

boat passengers could be shunted into dining 

areas separate from whites once they were 

allowed on board. The Iowa supreme court’s 

rejection of intramural segregation was a 

minority position in 1873, and it remained so 

well into the twentieth century, but over time 

an increasing number of courts took the Iowa 

court’s side.68

The Civil Rights Cases also provide a 

prime example of the dynamic between Su-

preme Court decisions addressing sensitive 

social and political topics and opponents’ 

efforts to work around those decisions. That 

dynamic has appeared repeatedly through-

out the Court’s history, and it has particular 

resonance today, in a time of controversial 

Court decisions on topics such as abortion, 

political gerrymandering and discrimination 

based on religious beliefs. The Civil Rights 

Cases elicited an initial reaction of anger 

and despair among opponents, a fear that the 

cause of public rights might be doomed; 

but that reaction quickly gave way to prag-

matic efforts to work around the decision. 

One of the Court’s main goals was to pre-

serve a maximal sphere for state rights and 

opponents took advantage of that goal, fo-

cusing on the opening Bradley had made for 

state public rights laws. There was no hope 

of persuading Southern states to enact such 

laws, but Black civil rights leaders made ef-

fective use both of Black voters’ leverage as 

a swing bloc in many Northern states and 

of the still-substantial reservoir of Northern 

white support for the 1875 Act’s goals. They 

achieved a surprising amount of success in 

the years immediately following the Court’s 

decision, followed by decades of slow but 

steady incremental gains in state legislatures 

and courts. Like many decisions throughout 

the Supreme Court’s history, the Civil Rights 

Cases made an imprint that was deep but by 

no means permanent. The reaction the deci-

sion produced proved to be at least as impor-

tant as the decision itself.
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Introduction

More than eighty-five years after its 

eventual failure, Franklin Delano Roosevelt’s 

attempt to influence the Supreme Court’s 

jurisprudence by increasing the number of 

justices remains a frequently used point of 

reference in American debates about the role 

of the constitutional judiciary in the U.S. 

political system. The story of the Plan (or 

rather the Judicial Procedures Reform Bill 

as it was officially called) and its eventual 

failure is quickly told. In 1935 and 1936, the 

Court, by a slim majority of justices, struck 

down a number of major pieces of New Deal 

legislation. The line of jurisprudence that 

emerged in these decisions was expected to 

continue for years to come, threatening fur-

ther New Deal programs. President Roosevelt 

was unwilling to accept this, and on February 

5, 1937, just weeks after his first re-election, 

he announced a plan to reorganize the federal 

courts. This Plan would have allowed him, 

among other things, to appoint up to six new 

justices to the Supreme Court, thus ensur-

ing a majority of justices sympathetic to the 

New Deal. The Plan met with considerable 

opposition, however, and Roosevelt failed to 

win the support of a majority of members of 

Congress. Meanwhile, the Supreme Court 

had begun to significantly shift its line of 

jurisprudence, ruling in favor of New Deal 

programs.1

As simple as this sequence of events 

may seem, its interpretation has been hotly 

debated ever since, and many questions con-

nected to the Plan still cause controversy 
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among scholars from various fields. Perhaps 

the most intensely debated of these ques-

tions is whether political pressure or an in-

ternal interpretative shift preceding the Plan 

was responsible for the fundamental change 

in Supreme Court jurisprudence beginning 

in 1937.2 Another point of controversy is 

the rationale behind Roosevelt’s decision to 

propose the Court-packing Plan rather than 

pursue a potentially less controversial re-

form, such as a constitutional amendment.3 

Some contemporary commentators, as well 

as revisionist interpreters of the New Deal 

era, attribute this to Roosevelt’s alleged hu-

bris brought on by his overwhelming election 

victory.4 Many historians refute this idea of 

such short-term, almost affective decision-

making, pointing to the long genesis of the 

Plan and arguing that it was the most rational 

option from Roosevelt’s perspective.5 Finally, 

there are differing views as to why the Court-

packing plan ultimately failed. Revisionist 

interpretations of the Roosevelt presidency 

see the plan as out of touch with reality and 

thus doomed from the outset.6 Most scholars, 

however, see the outcome of the congressio-

nal negotiations as open and point to strate-

gic errors on Roosevelt’s part or emphasize 

the significance of the sudden death of Sen-

ate Majority Leader Robinson, who had been 

particularly committed to the Plan’s success 

in Congress.7

These scholarly debates, fueled by the 

continuing relevance of Roosevelt’s Court-

packing Plan as a precedent for the present 

debates on the Court, have generated a vast 

body of scholarship spanning the fields of his-

tory, political science, and law. Most of these 

publications focus on the questions outlined 

above as well as other issues connected to the 

historical development of U.S. constitutional 

law, or the political history of the Plan as it 

unfolded within the institutions of the fed-

eral government. Largely missing from this 

existing scholarship is the extensive debate 

over the Plan among the American public. 

In particular, analysis of the arguments that 

comprised that public debate and their deeper 

meanings within the context of American po-

litical discourse remains scarce.

A thorough analysis of the public debate 

surrounding the Plan is essential not only to 

explaining how and why the Plan failed, but 

also to understanding its broader significance 

for the history of the U.S. political landscape. 

To understand this public debate, in turn, it 

is crucial to consider not only how it related 

to developments in U.S. political discourse 

but also how the international situation of 

the 1930s, especially the erosion of democ-

racy in many European countries, influenced 

Americans’ perspectives on the Plan. Deeply 

informed by a sense of a crisis of democracy, 

both opponents and proponents of the Plan 

claimed that either the Plan or its prevention 

would save the U.S. from the global spread 

of authoritarianism. In this atmosphere, the 

Plan was discussed almost exclusively in 

terms of its implications for preserving de-

mocracy, rather than as a possibility for ju-

dicial reform. Thus, if the Plan is to be con-

sidered of lasting importance not only as a 

turning point in the history of the Supreme 

Court, but also because of its impact on the 

history of the New Deal era, the U.S. party 

system, and American politics in general, it 

is crucial to recognize how the international 

circumstances and their perception in the 

U.S. were a key factor in these histories.

Although most studies concerned with 

the Court-packing Plan make some brief 

reference to the heated public debate that 

accompanied it, to date there has been little 

systematic examination of this debate, its ar-

guments, or the public reception of the Plan. 

Only a few scattered studies have looked 

more closely at the public debate over the 

Plan. Some of them have re-evaluated con-

temporaneous public opinion polls to pro-

vide a quantitative perspective on Americans’ 
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perceptions of the Plan.8 Other studies have 

analyzed the perception of the Court-packing 

Plan in specific social groups and institutions, 

such as the regional press, lawyers’ associa-

tions, the African-American community, or 

religious groups.9 Only a few works have shed 

light on the myths, narratives, arguments, 

symbolisms, and rhetorical strategies em-

ployed in the debate.10 Analyzing the impact 

of the international context of the 1930s and 

the resulting discourse on the preservation of 

democracy on the debate over the Plan adds a 

new perspective to the existing research. This 

perspective thus contributes to a deeper un-

derstanding of the Court-packing Plan and its 

meaning for the American political discourse 

of the 1930s and beyond. Therefore, after 

briefly reviewing the political situation when 

Roosevelt first announced the Plan, this essay 

will analyze in detail the arguments of both 

opponents and proponents of the Plan, and 

then briefly discuss the medium- and long-

term consequences of this debate.

A Window Broken: The Court-packing 

Plan and its Background

President Roosevelt and the New Deal 

polarized American society long before the 

Court-packing Plan was launched. Although 

directly after his inauguration even some 

Republican-leaning Americans were sympa-

thetic to the new president and the optimism 

he spread, he soon became a hated figure 

for many, especially in the business com-

munity. Opposition groups emerged, often 

organized and financed by powerful corpo-

rations, and, together with some large press 

companies, devoted themselves to the cause 

of opposing the president.11 Opposition to 

the New Deal was largely motivated by the 

notion that its economic regulations repre-

sented an inappropriate and inefficient ex-

pansion of the state’s power to the detriment 

of individualism and free enterprise. Instead, a 

broad understanding of property and individ-

ual rights was seen as necessary for Ameri-

can democracy as defined by the Constitu-

tion.12 Thus, Roosevelt was soon accused of 

seeking to establish quasi-dictatorial rule by 

disregarding these rights and expanding ex-

ecutive power. This accusation was used even 

more intensively as the New Deal shifted 

from immediate relief programs to social 

legislation beginning in 1935.13 The accusa-

tion that Roosevelt’s government was flirting 

with dictatorship thus allowed opponents of 

the New Deal to present themselves as de-

fenders of democracy and the Constitution, 

a pattern that would reappear in the debate 

over the Court-packing Plan.14

The success of the campaign was mixed. 

Many Americans still had to worry about 

making ends meet and were convinced of 

Roosevelt’s sincerity. To them, such concerns 

seemed remote.15 It was therefore easy for 

Roosevelt and his supporters to discredit the 

charges against them as being driven by elit-

ist economic interests. The references to the 

Constitution and American individualism, 

they argued, were mere pretexts or, at best, 

expressions of an outmoded understanding 

of the Constitution used to counteract neces-

sary reforms.16 For all the superficial polem-

ics, these accusations hinted at two different 

understandings of democracy.

The debate over the role of the Supreme 

Court in the political system, and many of its 

arguments, even predated the New Deal era. 

In particular, during the Progressive Era of 

the late nineteenth century, the Court, with 

its focus on protecting property rights and a 

strict interpretation of the Constitution, was 

perceived by some reformers as an obstacle 

to necessary social reform.17 This anti-Court 

sentiment continued well beyond the end 

of the Progressive Era. In 1924, Robert La 

Follette Sr., Progressive Party presidential 
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candidate, made Supreme Court reform a 

central plank of his campaign.18

In the early years of the New Deal, criti-

cism of the Court still had traction, but the 

willingness to actually embrace a reform that 

would curtail the Court’s power was weak. In 

a Gallup poll taken in the fall of 1935, only 

thirty-one percent of respondents favored 

such a reform.19 Beginning in 1935, this 

sentiment started to change, as the Court be-

gan to rule against New Deal programs and 

legislations. The ruling against the National 

Industrial Recovery Administration was still 

largely accepted, while the ruling against 

mandatory old-age pensions for railroad 

workers and regulations of the coal industry 

turned workers in those sectors into oppo-

nents of the Court. The ruling against the 

Agricultural Adjustment Administration an-

gered many farmers.20 Finally, the 5 to 4 rul-

ing against a New York State minimum wage 

law for women seemed incomprehensible 

even to many opponents of the New Deal.21 

Among Roosevelt’s supporters, each ruling 

against the New Deal reinforced the percep-

tion of a Court working for special interests, 

which was strengthened by the perceived 

bloc of four conservative justices (called the 

“Four Horsemen”), who consistently voted 

against New Deal programs.22

From 1935 to 1937, Congress received 

more petitions to reform the Court and curtail 

From 1935 to 1937, Congress received more petitions to reform the Court and curtail its powers than at any other 

time in its history. Above FDR announced his Judicial Procedures Reform Bill in February 1937 in a fireside chat.
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its powers than at any other time in its his-

tory.23 A flood of letters urged Roosevelt and 

members of Congress to finally act to end the 

blockade caused by the Court.24 This criti-

cism was quickly laced with sharp polemic. 

The book Nine Old Men, by journalists 

Drew Pearson and Robert Allen, who de-

scribed the justices as men behind the times, 

became a best-seller.25 When it became clear 

in 1936 that the National Labor Relations Act 

(‘Wagner Act’), which protected workers’ 

right to organize, would also be reviewed by 

the Supreme Court, it was widely expected, 

that it, too, would be struck down. Reform-

ing the Court thus became a pressing issue 

for organized labor.26 Despite the growing 

support for some kind of reform, Roosevelt 

was made aware as early as 1935 that a pos-

sible reform of the Supreme Court would be 

a sensitive issue. After publicly labeling the 

justices as adherents to a “horse-and-buggy” 

interpretation of the Constitution, he faced a 

strong backlash of public criticism. Until the 

1936 election, therefore, Roosevelt, while in-

ternally evaluating various ways to end the 

Court’s blockade of New Deal legislation, 

held back on public statements. Thus, Re-

publican attempts to use the issue of a pos-

sible Court reform in the campaign against 

Roosevelt failed.27

In the 1936 presidential election, Roos-

evelt won the most sweeping electoral vic-

tory in American history up to that time. He 

and his supporters interpreted this victory as 

a mandate to continue the New Deal policies 

against all resistance.28 Thus, shortly after his 

second inauguration, Roosevelt decided to fi-

nally implement a plan for judicial reform by 

introducing a bill in Congress. This draft of 

the Judicial Procedures Reform Bill would 

have added one additional justice for every 

justice on the bench over the age of seventy, 

allowing Roosevelt to appoint up to six new 

justices (either by adding new justices or by 

replacing those who instead chose to retire). 

The proposed bill was thus a powerful tool 

for turning the conservative-leaning majority 

on the bench into a minority, possibly even 

before the upcoming decisions on the Wag-

ner Act and other New Deal legislation.29 

What happened next caught Roosevelt off 

guard. Congress, despite its overwhelming 

Democratic majority after the election, fell 

into a polarized debate over the proposed 

bill. Moreover, the public did not show the 

overwhelming support that the president had 

expected.

However, the wave of public protest was 

by no means as crushing as it is often por-

trayed, for example by Marian McKenna, 

a historian critical of the New Deal, who 

writes of an “almost total public backlash.”30 

The evidence for such claims is sketchy. 

The frequently cited letters to the editors of 

leading newspapers and magazines, as well 

as to members of Congress, can hardly be 

considered representative of the sentiment 

of the American public.31 Moreover, many 

owners of newspapers and press companies 

had been critics of Roosevelt and the New 

Deal long before the Court-packing Plan, 

which explains the strong negative press on 

the Plan.32

Public opinion polls gave a different pic-

ture than the reaction of the press. In Gallup 

polls taken in the first few weeks after Roos-

evelt announced the Court-packing Plan, 

support for the Plan among respondents 

consistently hovered between forty-seven 

and forty-nine percent.33 Compared with the 

thirty-five percent support for court reform 

that Gallup had measured as late as 1935, 

support had grown significantly, even if a 

wide margin of error is taken into account. 

At the very least, the polls show that public 

opinion was thus by no means overwhelm-

ingly against the Court-packing Plan. If the 

polls are assumed to be accurate, for a brief 

period in March the public was even leaning 

slightly in favor of the plan.34 Nevertheless, 

Roosevelt was never able to win a firm ma-

jority for his plan either.35
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Tyranny, Past and Present:  

The Arguments of the Opponents  

of the Court-packing Plan

The accusation that Roosevelt was seek-

ing to establish a dictatorship had largely 

fallen silent by the time of the 1936 election 

since it had failed to mobilize the general 

public for the Republican cause.36 After the 

announcement of the Court-packing Plan, 

however, the dictatorship-accusation made 

a sensational comeback. The Plan was pre-

sented by proponents of the dictatorship 

theory as irrefutable evidence of Roosevelt’s 

dictatorial tendencies, this time with consid-

erable effect even among moderate Roosevelt 

voters.37

The powerful impact of these accusa-

tions can only be understood by considering 

the international political situation and its 

role in American political discourse. In the 

spring of 1937, to most Americans democ-

racy seemed to be in retreat throughout the 

world, threatened by dictatorships’ aggres-

sive claims to power. Hardly a day passed 

without the Court-packing Plan sharing the 

newspaper pages with stories of democra-

cies in crisis and dictatorial regimes on the 

rise.38 Germany, in particular, was perceived 

as increasingly threatening after the remili-

tarization of the Rhineland and the intensify-

ing persecution of Jews, other minorities, and 

dissidents. In addition, Mussolini’s close ties 

with Berlin after the conclusion of the Anti-

Comintern Pact, and the establishment of the 

Berlin-Rome Axis, as well as the Italian in-

vasion of Ethiopia that had begun in 1935, 

made the Italian fascismo appear increas-

ingly dangerous. Japan’s entry into the pact 

also seemed threatening, especially as more 

and more signs pointed to a new war of ag-

gression in China, following Tokyo’s annexa-

tion of the Chinese province of Manchuria in 

1931. A particularly dramatic event was the 

outbreak of the Spanish Civil War in 1937, 

when right-wing military leaders, backed by 

Italy and Germany, waged war against the 

Republic and its government.39 Meanwhile, 

in the Soviet Union, the Great Terror had just 

reached its bloody climax.

The global threat to democracy and 

the radicalization of autocracy had become 

central points of reference in American po-

litical discourse. Above all, Americans now 

asked themselves whether “it could happen 

here”; that is, whether erosion and decay of 

democracy were possible in the United States 

as well, and if so, how they could be pre-

vented.40 This atmosphere was very different 

from the situation in 1933, when European 

dictatorships were still considered interesting 

experiments by many Americans, and some 

intellectuals wrote about the possibilities of a 

temporary dictatorship. This helps to explain 

why Roosevelt was able to obtain emergency 

powers largely without resistance in 1933, 

The global threat to democracy and the radicalization 

of autocracy made Americans worry that the erosion 

and decay of democracy were possible in the United 

States as well. FDR quickly ran into strong opposition 

with the Court-packing Plan because the international 

backdrop made a dictatorship seem both more likely 

and more threatening to Americans.
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but quickly ran into strong opposition with 

the Court-packing Plan.41 By the spring of 

1937, a dictatorship seemed both more likely 

and more threatening to Americans.

Given this public mood, it is not surpris-

ing that even voices sympathetic to Roosevelt 

felt that the Court-packing Plan was going 

too far and represented a dangerous accu-

mulation of power in the executive branch. 

This fear was heightened by Roosevelt’s 

landslide election victory and a Congress 

with an overwhelming, seemingly compliant 

Democratic majority.42 Although moderate 

critics stopped short of accusing Roosevelt of 

seeking dictatorial powers, they argued that 

enlarging the Court would set a dangerous 

precedent that would allow future presidents 

to stack the Supreme Court in preparation 

for dictatorship.43 Journalist Merlo Pusey, 

citing the decline of democracy in Euro-

pean states, wrote that in case of a successful 

implementation of the Court-packing Plan 

“we would have no assurance that ‘it can’t 

happen here.’ What a travesty it would be if 

so-called liberals, seeking temporary advan-

tages, should thus lay the groundwork for a 

dictatorial regime!”44 Arthur Vandenberg, 

Republican senator from Michigan, warned 

that a successful Court-packing Plan would 

leave American democracy vulnerable and 

exposed to the encroachment of the “Euro-

pean curse.”45

In this way, the question of the Court-

packing Plan’s impact on American democ-

racy soon became the focus of debate. While 

moderate critics referred more generally to 

the world situation and the potential dangers 

posed by future politicians with dictatorial 

ambitions, more radical critics referred di-

rectly to Roosevelt, accusing him of using 

the Court-packing Plan to establish a “tyr-

anny,” “personal government,” or “dictator-

ship” and compared him to Stalin, Mussolini, 

or Hitler.46 There was, however, rarely any 

deeper analysis, at least in the broader pub-

lic debate, of what exactly the Court-packing 

Plan had in common with the establishment 

of dictatorships in Europe. One of the most 

systematic comparisons was offered by Wal-

ter Lippman in the conservative New York 

Herald Tribune. He postulated that Hitler and 

Mussolini had both come to power in times 

of economic hardship on the promise of eco-

nomic improvement. Then, both had trans-

formed parliament into a mere rubber-stamp 

for executive policy and proceeded to do the 

same with the courts. Roosevelt, he wrote, 

had already taken the first two of these three 

steps toward dictatorship. The Court-packing 

Plan was now an attempt to take the third 

step as well.47 Senator Burton K. Wheeler, 

the most vocal Democratic opponent of the 

Plan, made a similar point in a Senate de-

bate, pointing out that “There are courts in 

Germany, there are courts in Italy, there are 

courts in Russia, and men are placed on them 

to meet the needs of the times as the dictators 

see the needs, and those justices do what the 

dictators want them to do.”48

The warnings and comparisons did not 

become more precise than that. Most of the 

articles and speeches comparing the Euro-

pean dictatorships to the Court-packing Plan 

remained superficial and vague.49 They often 

viewed the Court-packing Plan as a personal 

pursuit of power and equated this desire for 

power with the European dictators, whose 

atrocities were then presented as a caution-

ary example of the consequences of the 

Court-packing Plan. Nationally syndicated 

columnist Dorothy Thompson, for example, 

used rhetorical questions to link fears of the 

demise of democracy to the Court-packing 

Plan: “This is the beginning of pure personal 

government. Do you want it? Do you like it? 

Look around the world—there are plenty of 

examples—and make up your mind.”50 In 

general, little distinction was made between 

the various authoritarian systems. Roosevelt 

and the supporters of the Court-packing Plan 

were almost arbitrarily accused of fascism, 

communism, or even both at the same time.51
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Radical critics of Roosevelt were not in-

terested in showing as precisely as possible 

what precedents his actions had in the Eu-

ropean dictatorships. Instead, they sought to 

evoke a rather abstract image of unfreedom, 

tyranny, and personal rule, for which the 

dictatorships of Europe were present sym-

bols or manifestations. Emblematic of this 

tendency was the fact that the rather abstract 

word “tyranny” appeared at least as often as 

“dictatorship” in speeches and newspaper 

articles critical of the Plan. The dependence 

of the courts on the executive branch was a 

defining element of this “tyranny,” according 

to them. Moreover, not only contemporary 

dictatorships were cited as cautionary exam-

ples of “tyranny,” but also former European 

monarchies. Thus, in texts written by his crit-

ics, Roosevelt found himself compared not 

only to Hitler and Stalin, but also to British 

monarchs and French absolutists.52

This rhetorical strategy also allowed for 

references to America’s own history. Senator 

Wheeler, for example, referred several times 

to his family’s flight from the oppression 

of European monarchies, warning that this 

oppression in its current form must be pre-

vented from spreading to the United States. 

In a Senate speech, he argued that the ideas 

and ideals enshrined in the Constitution and 

fought for in the Revolutionary War had 

saved America from “tyranny” and prevented 

its spreading.53 In such an understanding of 

history, then, it was the Constitution and its 

Senator Burton Wheeler, the most vocal Democratic opponent of the Plan, warned about the loss of democracy in 

Europe during a Senate debate. “There are courts in Germany, there are courts in Italy, there are courts in Rus-

sia,” he said, “and men are placed on them to meet the needs of the times as the dictators see the needs, and 

those justices do what the dictators want them to do.”
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ideals that had previously made it impossible 

for “tyranny” to gain power in the United 

States. From this perspective, the Supreme 

Court was seen as a key part of that Con-

stitution, removed from the disputes of day-

to-day politics and impartially monitoring 

the inviolability of the Constitution.54 This 

understanding of the Court as an apolitical 

and independent guardian of constitutional 

principles was presented by the opponents of 

the Court-packing Plan as the intent of the 

founders of the Republic.55 This reasoning 

was problematic since the powers of the Su-

preme Court were only vaguely spelled out 

in the Constitution and there were quite dif-

ferent ideas among the founders, for example 

between Thomas Jefferson and Alexander 

Hamilton, about what the Court’s powers 

should be in practice. Moreover, the number 

of justices had been changed several times 

for political reasons, first under Presidents 

Adams and Jefferson, then by the Republican 

Congress of the Reconstruction Era.56

This description of the Supreme Court by 

the Plan’s opponents was linked to the Court’s 

self-portrayal, which, like the judiciary as 

a whole, depended for its own legitimacy 

on an understanding of the law as an inde-

pendent, apolitical entity, and cultivated this 

understanding accordingly. Like all courts, 

the Supreme Court was not only a symbol of 

the law, the rule of law, and the Constitution, 

but it also surrounded itself with symbols of 

gravitas and solemnity such as the ceremo-

nial protocol of a hearing, the robes of the 

justices, or the newly built marble courthouse 

on Capitol Hill.57 This image of an almost sa-

cred court allowed opponents of the Court-

packing Plan to cast the Supreme Court as 

a quasi-sacred symbol of the Constitution 

whose fate would be the fate of the Consti-

tution as a whole.58 In a retrospective, later 

Associate Justice Robert Jackson aptly com-

pared the Court-packing Plan to the break-

ing of a church window: “It isn’t the damage 

that’s done, it’s the spirit of the thing that stirs 

up all the passion.”59

With the notion of the Court’s inde-

pendence at the forefront, opponents of the 

Court-packing Plan could now argue that the 

Plan would destroy the Court’s independence 

and politicize what they saw as the bulwark of 

democracy and personal freedoms. For them, 

the Plan thus represented a blatant attack on 

the constitutional values that had so far pro-

tected the United States from dictatorship.60 

Former President Herbert Hoover declared 

the Supreme Court to be the “last safeguard 

of free men.”61 For Republican Representa-

tive Parnell Thomas of New Jersey, the nine 

justices were “the last barrier between dicta-

torship and democracy.”62

This general line of argument was more 

effective and important to opponents of the 

Court-packing Plan than analytical compari-

sons with Europe’s dictatorships. The latter, 

however, were important to emphasize that 

“tyranny” was not yet a thing of the past, but 

was still present and threatening, and its sup-

pression an urgent problem. Preventing the 

Court-packing Plan could thus appear as a 

defense of democracy. In addition, locating 

the historical and contemporary examples 

of “tyranny” in Europe made it possible to 

define “tyranny” and its characteristics as 

essentially un-American and to present the 

Constitution as the epitome of a superior 

“American civilization.”63 By postulating 

this European-American dualism, the debate 

about the Court-packing Plan could be addi-

tionally charged with a nationalist exception-

alism, opening this line of argument to racist 

notions of a culturally superior Anglo-Saxon 

heritage.64

Racist ideas were also crucial to the op-

position of many Southern Democrats to the 

Court-packing Plan. Many white Southerners 

saw Roosevelt’s policies as threatening the 

South’s “labor and race relations,”65 that is, 

its social structure based on white supremacy 
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and the dominance of traditional elites, es-

pecially since the Congress of Industrial Or-

ganizations (CIO), which was allied with the 

president, had begun to break up traditional 

dependency relations in favor of unioniza-

tion. In addition, the Democratic Party in the 

northern states, much to the consternation of 

Southerners, had actively courted the votes 

of African Americans in the election cam-

paign. Many Southern Democratic officials 

now began to distrust the informal agree-

ment between them and the New Dealers 

that made Southern support for reform con-

tingent on the preservation of the Jim Crow 

system.66 When the Court-packing Plan was 

announced, many Southern Democrats inter-

preted the move as part of a national plan to 

advance civil rights for African Americans 

by removing the Court as a potential de-

fender of the South’s social system.67

More concerned with labor relations in 

general, by the mid-1930s industrialists, as 

well as many middle-class businesspeople, 

were increasingly worried that the working 

class, which formed the core of Roosevelt’s 

electoral base, would eventually dominate 

politics and threaten property relations.68 

They feared that Roosevelt and the Demo-

cratic majority in Congress would simply im-

pose the will of the working class “masses” 

without regard for the rights and interests of 

minorities.69 Alexis de Tocqueville famously 

termed this notion the “tyranny of the ma-

jority,” which he identified to be one of the 

greatest dangers of the democratic form of 

government. Consequently, he argued for a 

system of separation of powers, including a 

strong and independent Supreme Court.70 In 

the 1930s, this idea was echoed by large seg-

ments of the middle and upper classes, who 

Unsurprisingly, the unemployed and workers supported the Plan as they had benefited most from the New Deal 

and thus from Roosevelt’s idea of democracy. The AFL Executive Committee, among others, instructed its affiliates 

to actively support the Plan, but union activism nonetheless fell short of Roosevelt’s expectations.
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valued the Supreme Court as an obstacle to 

Roosevelt’s “tyranny of the majority.”71

These fears were fueled by events in Eu-

rope, especially in the Soviet Union, which 

were widely interpreted as revolts of the 

lower classes that had turned into a “tyranny 

of the majority.”72 But more importantly, do-

mestic political developments fanned these 

anxieties, namely the overwhelming Demo-

cratic victories in the elections and the labor 

struggle, which was particularly intense in 

the spring of 1937. When the CIO began to 

employ new and more militant methods, like 

sit-down strikes, to fight for workers’ inter-

ests throughout the country, a majority of 

Americans rejected these aggressive meth-

ods of labor struggle.73 Because Roosevelt 

was allied with organized labor, which did 

not seem to respect liberal values of private 

enterprise and the sanctity of property, it was 

easy to cast the Supreme Court as defender 

of these values.74

Religious communities and churches 

were divided over the Court-packing Plan. 

Catholics and Jews, in particular, found 

themselves in an ambivalent situation. Both 

religious groups were part of the New Deal 

Coalition and tended to be sympathetic to 

Roosevelt. At the same time, however, they 

were minorities who had much to lose from 

a “tyranny of the majority” and were there-

fore more inclined to see the Supreme Court 

as a defender of individual rights.75 For them 

in particular, the world situation played an 

important role in assessing the danger posed 

by the Court-packing Plan. Most obviously, 

Jewish Americans were particularly con-

cerned about the possible consequences of 

the plan because of the intensifying anti-Se-

mitic persecutions in Germany.76 Catholics in 

the U.S., too, anxiously observed the increas-

ingly anticlerical policies of the Nazi party. 

This sense of concern was expressed in Pope 

Pius XI’s encyclical “With Burning Anxiety,” 

issued shortly after the Court-packing Plan 

debate began, in which he condemned the 

German government’s policies. In addition, 

the anti-Catholic stance of the Republican 

Loyalists in the Spanish Civil War fueled 

anxieties among Catholics, especially since 

Roosevelt sympathized with the Republic.77 

As William Ross has pointed out, the reli-

gious communities seldom sided unequivo-

cally with the critics, but in general they were 

more hostile to, than supportive of the Court-

packing Plan.78

Whether all those who accused Roos-

evelt of trying to establish a dictatorship in 

the U.S. were actually convinced of this accu-

sation is doubtful. Nevertheless, the fact that 

they succeeded in inserting the criticism of 

the Court-packing Plan into the ongoing dis-

course on the crisis and the preservation of 

democracy showed that the Plan represented 

a threatening scenario for many Americans. 

But the criticism of the Court-packing Plan 

was always more than a warning against dic-

tatorship or pointing out parallels to Euro-

pean dictatorships. It was a powerful tool for 

conservatives and free-market Republicans 

to reassert their own design of American de-

mocracy in the wake of the widespread dis-

crediting of laissez-faire capitalism caused 

by the Great Depression and Hoover’s much-

maligned response to it. It allowed them to 

position their ideas as a better alternative 

to Roosevelt’s allegedly ‘un-American’ and 

dictatorial policies.79 Thus, the criticism was 

never simply a rejection of the Plan, but also 

an argument for an alternative conception of 

democracy that emphasized, among other 

things, property rights, a strict interpretation 

of the Constitution, and limits on power of 

the executive branch. This understanding of 

democracy did not emerge in response to the 

Court-packing Plan but had rather formed in 

longer developments with intellectual roots 

that predated the founding of the Republic. 

The Plan, however, allowed it to regain trac-

tion and thus consolidate itself by making 

itself part of the discourse on the crisis of 

democracy.80
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Well-matched Horses: The Arguments of 

the Proponents of the Court-packing Plan

Not only the critics of the Court-packing 

Plan, but also its supporters argued with and 

for a specific understanding of democracy 

and connected their arguments to the cur-

rent world situation and the perception of a 

crisis of democracy. It was no coincidence 

that Roosevelt ended his probably most ef-

fective speech promoting the Court-packing 

Plan, the ‘Fireside Chat’ of March 9, 1937, 

with the words: “You who know me will ac-

cept my solemn assurance that in a world in 

which democracy is under attack I seek to 

make American democracy succeed.”81 Like 

the opponents of the Court-packing Plan, its 

proponents, and Roosevelt in particular, used 

the reference to the international crisis of 

democracy to present themselves as defend-

ers of democracy. This attempt to make the 

arguments for the Plan part of the discourse 

on the crisis of democracy should not be 

understood as a mere reaction to the critics’ 

accusations, but as a genuine result of the 

rationale behind the Court-packing Plan or 

rather of the specific concept of democracy 

that underpinned it.82

Roosevelt did not interpret the emer-

gence of dictatorships as the result of the 

violation of abstract ideals or the curtailing 

of civil liberties but saw them as the conse-

quence of an economic emergency meeting a 

government incapable of acting and of taking 

care of the needs and wishes of the majority 

of the population. Only in a democracy with 

a strong and swiftly acting government could 

the defense against authoritarian tendencies 

succeed.83 This, in turn, required a flexible 

approach to the Constitution that would keep 

pace with the times and allow for appropri-

ate responses to new circumstances.84 From 

this perspective, Roosevelt saw the New Deal 

measures’ potential to alleviate the people’s 

hardships as proof of the elected govern-

ment’s ability to act, and thus as an important 

step toward safeguarding democracy.85 Thus, 

for him, the Supreme Court’s striking down 

of these vitally important measures was a 

threat to democracy.86 In a nationally broad-

cast speech to the Democratic Party in March 

1937, he made this idea abundantly clear:

Democracy in many lands has failed 

for the time being to meet human 

needs. People have become so fed 

up with futile debate and party bick-

ering over methods that they have 

been willing to surrender demo-

cratic processes and principles in 

order to get things done.  .  .  .  In 

the United States democracy has 

not yet failed and does not need to 

fail. And we propose not to let it 

fail! Nevertheless, I cannot . . . tell 

you, under present circumstances, 

just where American democracy is 

headed nor just what it is permitted 

to do in order to ensure its contin-

ued success and survival. I can only 

hope. For as yet there is no definite 

assurance that the three-horse team 

of the American system of govern-

ment will pull together. If three 

well-matched horses are put to the 

task of ploughing up a field where 

the going is heavy, and the team of 

three pull as one, the field will be 

ploughed. If one horse lies down 

in the traces or plunges off in an-

other direction, the field will not be 

ploughed.87 

It is difficult to reconcile Roosevelt’s as-

sertion that the three branches should  “pull as 

one” with a perspective emphasizing that de-

mocracy should be based on checks and bal-

ances. At the time, however, Roosevelt’s ideas 

were convincing to many Americans who 

favored swift government action to counter 

the effects of the economic crisis. Left-liberal 

intellectuals, urban progressives, and the or-

ganized labor movement echoed Roosevelt’s 
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argument and saw the Supreme Court as the 

obstacle to implementing important reforms. 

The left-liberal periodical The Nation, in an 

article supporting the plan, even postulated 

that Americans should be afraid of the rise of 

dictatorship, since the Supreme Court stood 

in the way of implementing the “popular 

will” in a democratic manner: “The issue is 

one of democracy versus a possible fascism. 

But the side of Congress and the President is 

the side of democracy.”88

So far, research on the Court-packing 

Plan has paid little attention to the plan’s sup-

porters, who at one point were estimated by 

Gallup to comprise forty-nine percent of the 

total population. An important reason for this 

is that many supporters of  the plan had little 

public visibility. The Gallup polls show that 

workers and welfare recipients were the most 

supportive of the plan, groups that, especially 

in the latter case, did not wield much power 

to shape public discourse.89 Thus, quantita-

tively speaking, the public debate was domi-

nated by critics of the Court-packing Plan.90

The support of the workers and welfare 

recipients for the Plan was hardly surprising, 

since these groups generally felt that they had 

benefited most from the New Deal and thus 

from Roosevelt’s idea of democracy. More-

over, historically labor had benefited little 

from Supreme Court decisions and thus had 

no reason to feel sympathy for the Court.91 

This labor sentiment was reflected, for ex-

ample, in the fact that the executive boards 

of both the CIO and the more moderate 

American Federation of Labor (AFL) and 

Non-Partisan Labor League issued statements 

unequivocally in favor of the Court-packing 

Plan, which received widespread approval 

among their members.92 Many unionists saw 

the justices as reactionary representatives 

of business interests and feared losing the 

gains labor had made during the New Deal.93 

As a result, the AFL Executive Committee, 

among others, instructed its affiliates to ac-

tively support the Plan.94 A regional union 

in Maine, for example, responded by urging 

local members of Congress to vote for the 

Plan.95 The Latherers’ Union recommended 

that the “frenetic appeals” of the “reactionary 

press” against the Plan should be ignored and 

was pleased that the “man in the street” was 

apparently doing so.96

This activism was not without effect, 

given the importance of organized labor in 

the Democratic electorate, but it still fell 

short of Roosevelt’s expectations. There were 

several reasons for this. On the one hand, the 

competition between the AFL and the newly 

formed CIO weakened the labor movement 

and tied up resources that could otherwise 

have been invested in supporting the Plan.97 

On the other hand, organized labor began to 

lose interest in the issue as it became clear that 

the jurisprudence of Chief Justice Charles 

Evans Hughes, and with him the Court, 

was shifting significantly, beginning with 

the Court’s decision in the case West Coast 

Hotel vs. Parrish in late March, upholding 

a Washington State minimum wage law for 

women and overturning earlier rulings. With 

this shift toward more labor-friendly juris-

prudence the immediate reason for unions 

to support the Plan was gone.98

Liberal and progressive intellectuals 

also backed the Court-packing Plan, largely 

out of support for the model of democracy it 

represented and out of frustration with what 

they saw as a conservative majority on the 

Supreme Court that was hostile to progress 

and protective of elite interests.99 The editors 

of left-liberal journals such as The Nation 

and The New Republic, for example, reliably 

sided with Roosevelt and the Court-packing 

Plan in reports, essays, and editorials.100 The 

supporters of the Plan used the charge of 

“tyranny,” too, but turned it against the Su-

preme Court itself. Echoing earlier critics 

of the Court like Drew Pearson and Robert 

Allen, many supporters of the Plan resented 

the idea that a single man, the median jus-

tice, could ultimately decide the fate of all 
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reforms and thus the fate of lives of millions 

of Americans. This “tyranny,” they argued, 

had to be ended.101 Frequently, the justices 

were accused of being guided by economic 

interests and, as part of the wealthy elite, 

of putting “property rights” before “human 

rights,” as The New Republic put it.102 More-

over, the supporters argued that Republican 

nominations to the bench had always been 

guided by political interest, so the Court-

packing Plan was not so much “packing” the 

Court as “unpacking” it.103 The notion of an 

apolitical and nonpartisan judiciary did not 

have much currency in the left-liberal camp. 

Here, the justices appeared less as a symbol 

of apolitical constitutional law than of an 

outdated and elitist social order.104

The possibility that a single justice could 

decide to overturn measures democratically 

enacted by representatives of the people in 

Congress and made absolutely necessary by 

the circumstances, loomed large in the rheto-

ric of the supporters of the Plan. The AFL’s as-

sociation journal even published a poem ex-

pressing this criticism in particularly dramatic 

terms. Since the Court had prevented redress 

for widespread suffering with a simple “no,” it 

was now time to say “no” to the Court.105

While the mythicized origins of the Con-

stitution were central to the rhetoric of the 

Political scientist O.R. Altman observed that the debate over the Court-packing Plan was essentially a dispute 

between two “antithetical programs of avoiding dictatorship.”
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supporters of the Court-packing Plan, Roos-

evelt and the Plan’s supporters did not shy 

away from referring to the Founding Fathers. 

Roosevelt, however, saw them less as cham-

pions of universal abstract ideals than as rev-

olutionaries with the courage to reform.106 

For Roosevelt, that courage meant moving 

with the times, accepting the necessities of 

new circumstances and acting accordingly. 

Thus, he was by no means advocating the 

abolition of the Constitution, but rather that 

it should be seen as a product of its time 

and reinterpreted under new circumstances. 

The Court-packing Plan was thus based not 

only on a specific understanding of democ-

racy, but also on the idea of a Constitution 

that moved with the times, a “living Consti-

tution,” as Roosevelt put it, which was nec-

essary for the resilience of democracy.107 In 

this understanding, the Supreme Court, with 

its conservative constitutional interpreta-

tions, resisted the necessary change and thus 

endangered democracy. This view led to the 

conviction that the court must therefore be 

endowed with a majority of justices willing 

to accept what was necessary, or as Roosevelt 

metaphorically put it: “Modern complexities 

also call for a constant infusion of new blood 

in the courts.”108 The AFL Executive Council 

echoed this reasoning:

That form of government which is 

not flexible enough to expand with 

the needs of the people, carries 

within itself the seeds of dissolu-

tion. A judiciary sensitive to social 

and economic situations that condi-

tion justice, is an essential factor in 

a democratic government. Such an 

enlightened judiciary at this time 

can be obtained only by the infusion 

of new blood as the President rec-

ommended to the Congress of the 

United States.109 

Roosevelt’s initial justification of  his plan 

on the grounds of reduced efficiency due to 

advanced age was an obvious pretext that 

cost him some sympathy.110 It is hard to deny, 

however, that Roosevelt was concerned with 

revitalizing the Court in the figurative sense 

as a way to preserve democracy. Only by tak-

ing into account the understanding of democ-

racy undergirding the Court-packing Plan 

can the Plan itself be understood.111 At its 

core, then, the debate over the Court- packing 

Plan was about more than the Supreme 

Court. It was a clash of different philosophies 

about democracy and its survival, against a 

backdrop of a global crisis of democracy.

Turning Point: Impact of the Debate on 

the U.S. Political Landscape

The debate over the Court-packing Plan 

left the political discourse changed. In the 

debate, conflicting positions and tensions 

that had previously remained below the sur-

face came to the fore and heavily impacted 

politics and political discourse. The erosion 

of the New Deal coalition in 1937 heralded 

the end of the era of New Deal reforms, a 

reorganization of the party system, and the 

continued competition between the two de-

signs for democracy highlighted above. The 

debate over the Court-packing Plan was not 

the cause of all this, but it was nevertheless 

the point at which what had previously re-

mained subcutaneous burst into the open, 

marking the beginning of processes that con-

tinue to shape the United States today.

As indicated above, the majority of con-

servative Democrats, especially from the 

Southern states, were critical of the Court-

packing Plan. After Roosevelt announced his 

plan, it was from their ranks that the stron-

gest negative reactions came, in part because 

the Republicans exercised tactical restraint. 

Moreover, in the more rural areas of the 

United States, progressive Democrats also 

tended to be skeptical of the Court- packing 

Plan. While they shared the concern for court 

reform, many would have preferred to see 
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a constitutional amendment and felt that 

the Plan was the wrong method because of 

their distrust of any accumulation of power 

by the executive branch and, increasingly, of 

Roosevelt himself.112 The most extreme case 

was Senator Wheeler, who had been the run-

ning mate of Court-critic Robert La Follette 

in the 1924 presidential election, but whose 

personal distrust of Roosevelt eventually 

made him the chief opponent of the Court-

packing Plan in the Senate.113

This critical attitude toward the Court-

packing Plan had been preceded in the years 

before by an increasingly hostile position to-

ward New Deal measures. Given Roosevelt’s 

immense popularity among their constitu-

ents, however, conservative and other dis-

senting Democrats decided not to oppose 

the president before the election.114 The ulti-

mate reason for this alienation was the over-

extension of the New Deal coalition, which 

ranged from the conservative planter elite in 

the Southern states to the labor movements 

of the industrial centers in the North. For the 

Democratic elites of the Southern states, the 

New Deal was worth supporting as long as 

it did not change existing paternalistic social 

structures but provided money that could be 

distributed through those structures. How-

ever, when the New Deal shifted from emer-

gency relief to social legislation in its second 

phase, many Southern Democrats saw this as 

a left-liberal shift that they were unwilling to 

support.115

Once the 1936 congressional elections 

were over and the president had launched the 

Court-packing Plan, there was an opportunity 

to use the outcry over alleged dictatorial ten-

dencies, made plausible by the international 

context, in order to oppose the President and 

slow down the pace of reform. Given the 

sense of an existential threat to the South’s 

social system, the turnaround of conservative 

Democrats would probably have come even 

without the Court-packing Plan, at the latest 

with the minor recession in the fall of 1937. 

The Court-packing Plan was not the trigger 

for the rebellion within in the Democratic 

Party, but a convenient opportunity and ex-

cuse for dissenters to come out of hiding.116 

Moreover, the sudden death of Senate Major-

ity Leader Joseph Robinson of Arkansas, the 

Plan’s most important supporter on Capitol 

Hill, halted the Plan’s momentum and con-

tributed to the fractioning of the Democrats 

in Congress. Nevertheless, Southern Demo-

crats also had genuine interests in preventing 

the Court-packing Plan since they feared that 

Roosevelt would staff the court with liberal 

justices who would strengthen the CIO and, 

even more importantly, would advance civil 

rights for African Americans, thus weaken-

ing the Jim Crow system.117

Southern Democrats therefore joined 

with Republicans and dissenting progressives 

to form a coalition against the Court-packing 

Plan. The first two groups rallied around the 

understanding of democracy outlined above 

and often used the same arguments. Nev-

ertheless, this coalition was hardly homo-

geneous, given the differing motivations and 

political ideas. For example, while many 

Southerners opposed the Court-packing Plan 

because they feared an expansion of civil 

rights for African Americans, in Northern 

states Republicans tried to persuade Afri-

can Americans to oppose the Court-packing 

Plan by arguing that only the Supreme Court 

could protect their rights.118 Nevertheless, 

the anti-Court-packing Plan coalition dem-

onstrated that alliances outside the New Deal 

coalition were possible. The eventual defeat 

of the Court-packing Plan not only de-

stroyed Roosevelt’s aura of invincibility, but 

also proved that these alternative alliances 

could command a majority and succeed.119 

The Court-packing Plan, which had exposed 

the fractures of the New Deal Coalition and 

stimulated the first collaborations between 

conservative Democrats and Republicans, 

thus became the starting point of the coali-

tion’s disintegration.120 While it was not the 
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cause, it provided the opportunity for new 

coalitions to negotiate ideas about the politi-

cal system and democracy.121

Opposition to Roosevelt intensified as 

the country slipped back into recession again 

in late summer.122 From then on, the alliance 

of conservative Democrats and Republicans 

managed to prevent a continuation of the far-

reaching social legislation and to steer the 

New Deal into a final phase less inclined to-

ward major reforms.123 Roosevelt attempted 

to respond to this by campaigning against 

Democratic candidates critical of him in the 

1938 congressional elections, with the only 

result that the ranks of his opponents closed 

even more.124 Ultimately, this not only halted 

the reformism of the New Deal, but also set 

in motion a much deeper process in the U.S. 

party system. Namely, a process of realign-

ment in which the ideologically broad and 

overlapping parties of the 1930s became two 

increasingly self-contained parties dominated 

by an increasingly homogeneous worldview. 

The Plan’s political fronts were early har-

bingers of later political battle lines.125 The 

Court-packing Plan was a turning point in 

this long and winding political process.

Conclusion

In an all but forgotten article published 

in the fall of 1937, political scientist O.R. 

The worsening political situation in Europe in 1937 allowed debate over the Court-packing Plan to become a 

debate about two divergent understandings of democracy itself.
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Altman observed that the debate over the Plan 

was essentially a dispute between two “anti-

thetical programs of avoiding dictatorship.”126 

This was indeed an accurate assessment. The 

debate over the Court-packing Plan took place 

in the context of a political discourse that, 

against the backdrop of the rise of dictator-

ships worldwide, was strongly influenced by 

the perception of a crisis of democracy and 

thus by the questions of whether democracy 

was also threatened in the United States and 

how American democracy could be protected. 

In this context, the Court- packing Plan was 

largely discussed in terms of its implications 

for the preservation of democracy, rather than 

as a possibility for judicial reform.

While its proponents saw the Plan as a 

measure to save democracy by guaranteeing 

the implementation of necessary measures 

and thus the democratic system’s ability to 

respond to the economic suffering, its op-

ponents saw it as threatening democracy by 

weakening the Supreme Court and thus the 

preservation of the constitutional order. The 

perception of a crisis of democracy in Europe 

allowed the debate on the Court-packing Plan 

to take on meaning beyond the issue of Court 

reform. It became a debate about democracy 

itself, in which the core ideas of two different 

understandings of the Constitution and de-

mocracy were articulated and negotiated. For 

conservatives and free-market Republicans in 

particular, opposition to the Court-packing 

Plan offered an opportunity to regain a clearer 

profile for themselves after the discrediting 

of laissez-faire capitalism and the emergency 

years of the economic crisis. The debate was 

extremely polarized, opinions were expressed 

in parallel without relating them to other ar-

guments, and the points of view of political 

opponents were frequently defamed without 

any real engagement with them. As a result, 

pragmatic dialogue and constructiveness took 

a back seat to emotion, polemics, and name-

calling. All of these findings add to our under-

standing of the Court-packing Plan, including 

the motivations behind it. Also, pointing to 

the rhetorical strategy of the Plan’s opponents 

opens up new perspectives on the causes of 

the Plan’s ultimate failure.

There is now a broad consensus among 

historians that the New Deal period was a 

formative period for modern America.127 

The debate over the Plan marked a turning 

point in that period, as underlying conflicts 

erupted, and new coalitions were formed 

along the lines of different conceptions of de-

mocracy and the state. It heralded a realign-

ment within the U.S. party system. More 

broadly, it was also a key moment in the long 

intellectual history of the U.S. politics going 

back to the conflict between Federalists and 

Anti-Federalists over the powers of the cen-

tral government (a conflict barely mentioned 

in the debate on the Plan but intellectually 

connected to it). Many of the political is-

sues and normative tensions that the Court-

packing Plan exposed are as relevant and 

controversial today as they were in 1937.128 

While the Plan and the debate surrounding 

it did not cause this turning point in political 

discourse, they did provide the occasion for 

the emergence of new coalitions and the re-

newed negotiation of ideas about the political 

system and democracy. In this way, the Plan 

and the debate over it informed how this po-

litical shift unfolded. Thus, the international 

circumstances of 1937, which strongly influ-

enced the debate over the Plan, left their mark 

not only on that debate but also on the longer 

trajectories of American political history.
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children. After reading them, it became clear 

that I had been sadly mistaken, as these para-

graphs will—I hope—reveal.

The communications include various 

observations and comments Taft provided 

as he composed his weekly letters. I have 

placed them in a rough kind of chronologi-

cal order combined with some respect for 

uniformity of topic. In the endnotes I have 

also provided minimal background informa-

tion, although some familiarity with the Taft 

era is assumed. It appears that Taft had little 

fear that his children would reveal any of 

the comments contained herein. Moreover, 

he was fully aware that he had amassed a 

huge collection of papers including letters, 

copies, speeches, and articles—all of which 

he had confidently assumed would be used 

by Gus Karger in the authorized biography 

The reader of this article may be entitled 

to a few words of explanation concerning 

how it came to be written. From about 2009 

to 2019, this author researched and com-

pleted two studies of William Howard Taft, 

the only American in our history to hold the 

two offices of President AND Chief Justice 

of the United States (although not at the same 

time).1 After reading numerous letters and 

speeches he had written, candor compels me 

to admit that a number of the former were 

verbose, and many—although not all—of  the 

latter seemed dull, if not down-right boring. 

Subsequent conversations with some staff 

members in the Library of Congress Manu-

scripts Reading Room convinced me that I 

needed to reconsider this conclusion. In par-

ticular, they called my attention to a series of 

letters Taft had regularly dictated to his three 

Caustic, Comical, Candid, and 

Insightful Commentary from 

Chief Justice William Howard 

Taft, 1921–1929: Excerpts

Jonathan Lurie
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that Taft anticipated Karger would produce. 

But Karger died in 1924, with the biography 

only a hoped-for project—yet to come. Upon 

Taft’s death in March, 1930, it fell to Taft’s 

children to resolve this matter. How they did 

so has been summarized in an earlier article 

for this journal.2

Throughout the final years of his life, 

and usually on the weekend, William How-

ard Taft dictated separate letters to his three 

adult children, Robert, Helen, and Charles; 

by 1921 all were married with children of 

their own. A graduate of Yale, Robert, the 

oldest, had been first in his class at Harvard 

Law School and president of the Harvard 

Law Review. Already a successful attorney, 

he served in the Ohio Legislature from 1921 

to 1933. Always as a Republican, he would 

ultimately be elected to three terms in the 

U.S. Senate, a tenure cut short by his death 

in 1953. Helen Taft Manning graduated from 

Bryn Mawr, and later received a Ph.D. in his-

tory from Yale. She returned to her alma ma-

ter and served both as its dean and as a mem-

ber of the history department, in which she 

taught until 1957. She was closely associated 

with M. Carey Thomas, the second president 

of Bryn Mawr from 1894 to 1922. Charles P. 

President William Howard Taft with his wife, Helen, and children Robert, Charles, and Helen in 1909. When Taft 

became chief justice in 1921, he dictated letters to each of his children, by then all high achievers. Robert, the 

oldest, had been first in his class at Harvard Law School and was serving in the Ohio Legislature. Helen was 

completing her Ph.D. in history at Yale and would soon become dean and head of the history department at her 

alma mater, Bryn Mawr. Charles (left) received his degree from Yale Law School in 1921 and became active in 

Cincinnati politics.



COMMENTARY FROM CHIEF JUSTICE WILLIAM HOWARD TAFT, 1921–1929 51

Taft received degrees from both Yale Col-

lege and Yale Law School. For a time, he 

joined his brother in a Cincinnati law firm, 

and later served as mayor of Cincinnati from 

1955–1957.

As was his want, the elder Taft ranged 

far and wide in comments to his trusted re-

cipients. In the case of his children or Gus 

Karger—the long-time Washington corre-

spondent for the Cincinnati Star-Times—they 

might include a description of individuals 

whom the Taft parents had recently enter-

tained, or visited, observations concerning 

current congressional or presidential actions, 

as well as candid comments about contem-

porary political figures, and/or his colleagues 

on the bench. A decade ago, I wrote that in his 

private correspondence, “Taft was often can-

did, sometimes too candid—and this coming 

from a very prolific correspondent.”3 Perhaps 

an excerpt from a private letter by Taft will 

suffice as an example. In November 1919, as 

President Woodrow Wilson’s fight on behalf 

of the League of Nations spiraled down into 

tragic stalemate, Taft wrote to Karger that 

“the whole world has suffered through the 

bitter personal antagonism, vanity and small-

ness of two men, [Massachusetts Republican 

Senator] Henry Cabot Lodge and Woodrow 

Wilson,” between whom “there is very little 

difference.” Wilson “has just as much of 

vanity and egotism and a disrespect for the 

country’s welfare and that of the world as 

Lodge or  .  .  . Knox, Borah, Brandegee and 

that gang.”4

Observing Politics from the Outside

Although Taft happily emphasized that 

after his appointment as chief justice in 1921, 

he was out of politics, in fact he retained his 

life-long interest in national affairs as an ob-

server, if not a participant. Now unable to 

comment publicly, he freely and frequently 

A. A. Hoehling, Associate Justice of the Supreme Court of the District of Columbia, swore in Taft as chief justice on 

July 11, 1921. Taft ceremonially took the Judicial Oath again on October 3, this time in open court before senior 

Associate Justice Joseph McKenna.
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aired his views in his weekly letters to his 

children. While he also insisted that by the 

mid-1920s he had virtually “forgotten” his 

tenure as president, his recollections as chief 

executive, many of them bitter, ran deep. 

Thus, his resentment, if not contempt, for 

Republican insurgents persisted from 1910 

throughout the remainder of his life. He died 

in March 1930.

In 1917, Taft wrote that Senator Rob-

ert La Follette “possess[es] a nuisance value 

which he makes clear every time he rises 

to his feet.  .  .  . La Follette, Borah, [Hiram] 

Johnson . . . all show the yellow which is in 

them and don’t hesitate to act as demagogues 

and cultivate the favor of the voters at the 

expense of the welfare of the country. . . .”5 

Three years later, his views had not changed. 

“The Republican party will never attain the 

usefulness that it should have until it throws 

overboard Johnson and Borah  .  .  .  and La 

Follette and that group.” Its weakness politi-

cally, “its lack of leadership are all attributed 

to the fear of this so-called Republican ele-

ment, which was never Republican at all. 

Even at the risk of defeat, it is better for us 

to get a compact party with party allegiance 

well defined.  .  .  .”6 After Calvin Coolidge’s 

triumphant reelection, in 1924, Taft “sin-

cerely hope[d] that the regular Republicans 

will now not let a man like Borah, who isn’t a 

real Republican, gnaw away at the desire and 

determination of regular Republicans not to 

admit as part of their force, La Follette and 

[George] Norris. . . . I would throw them out 

now, even at the expense of the organization 

of the Senate. . . .”7

In a similar vein, Taft opposed the idea of 

a constitutional ban against child labor. Such 

an amendment would not be wise.

I think the southern states are get-

ting into better shape with reference 

to child labor laws, and that the two 

centers .  .  .  in favor .  .  . are the la-

bor unions and those good people 

who have no hesitation in changing 

the Constitution and shifting all 

the burdens of executing laws to 

the National Government whenever 

there is any doubt as to their en-

forcement.  .  .  .  I think the central-

ization that has been going on has 

been greatly detrimental to our con-

stitutional structure[,] and that there 

is no evidence whatever of such a 

failure to enforce child labor regu-

lation by the States as to require the 

Nation to take it up.8 

As for Democratic Senator Thomas Walsh, 

“he is the narrowest man in the Senate. Called 

a Progressive, he is opposed to all progress, 

and has never had a really useful purpose.”9

In 1924, Taft described Wilson’s immi-

nent death as “quite pathetic.”

It is chiefly pathetic in that it has 

been too long delayed for his own 

reputation and the benefit of the 

world. If he had died when he was 

first attacked  .  .  .  the Versailles 

Treaty would have gone through 

with the reservations, and it would 

have remained a monument to him 

proportioned to the greatness of the 

position which he held for a time at 

the head of the World, but through 

his own personal peculiarities, van-

ity and obstinacy he sacrificed. . . .10

Also in early 1924, the Senate Judiciary Com-

mittee took up the so-called “Judge’s Bill,” 

a measure that expanded the certiorari ju-

risdiction of the Supreme Court. Taft did 

everything he could to gain its passage but 

was advised to absent himself from com-

mittee hearings because “some of my old 

enemies on the committee rather resent my 

being prominent in pressing legislation. This 

meets with my complete concurrence. I am 

delighted to escape the friction of that kind 

of contact,” as “one cannot afford to ignore 

the irrelevant reasons and prejudices of the 

small minded” who “if not in the majority are 
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at least a sufficient minority to create serious 

obstruction to real advance, where the matter 

excites their littlenesses [sic].”11

Taft’s letters demonstrate an occasional 

sense of sardonic humor that is especially 

marked in comments about Cary Thomas, 

the former president of Bryn Mawr, and a 

committed feminist. Presumably informed 

about Thomas by his daughter Helen who 

worked with her at the college, Taft reported 

that Helen had visited with Thomas, “and 

the verdict after their consultation was that 

if the world could be run by women, things 

would be a great deal better.”12 There is also 

Taft’s letter to Robert about Thomas’ travels 

in Greece late in 1924.

She was in the mountains some-

where near Athens and stepped aside 

on a mountain road to allow an 

old woman and mule to pass, and 

the mule was apparently prejudiced 

against Miss Thomas and kicked her 

and knocked her over a precipice[,] 

and she rolled down for forty feet. 

She had with her, however, a vigor-

ous niece who had first aid ready, 

and while her arm was severely 

injured and her head was cut, she 

insisted on getting to Athens[,] and 

thence took a steamer and landed 

in New York about the time she 

expected to land, and she seems to 

be thriving. Certainly she has won-

derful energy and powers of resis-

tance. I think there are a good many 

people with whom she has been in 

contact at Bryn Mawr who blame 

the mule for the failure to do a thor-

ough job.13

Taft pushed to gain passage of the so-called “Judge’s Bill” in 1924, which would expand the certiorari jurisdiction 

of the Supreme Court. But he told his son, Charles, that he strategically absented himself from Senate Judiciary 

Committee hearings because “some of my old enemies on the committee rather resent my being prominent in 

pressing legislation. This meets with my complete concurrence. I am delighted to escape the friction of that kind 

of contact.” Above Chief Justice Taft posed with the Chief Judges of the Federal Appellate Courts for the various 

circuits in 1923.
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By 1924 Taft had become very critical of 

Nicholas Murray Butler, who had been presi-

dent of Columbia University since 1902. (He 

would continue in that office for a record term 

of forty-three years.) In 1912, upon the sud-

den death of Taft’s running mate a few days 

before the presidential election, Butler had 

been designated to receive Republican elec-

toral votes cast on his behalf. They amounted 

to only eight. During the Prohibition Era, 

Butler consistently opposed the Volstead Act, 

while Taft—once the constitutionality of the 

statute had been affirmed—supported it. As 

for Butler, “what he says and does is really 

an incitement to a breach of the law, and he 

ought to be ashamed of himself.” In 1928, 

Taft fulminated that “no one is so crassly ab-

surd as Nicholas Murray Butler.  .  .  .  [T]he 

facets of his asininity [sic] are so varied that 

he has become the most brilliant and varied 

gem in our entire collection of asses.”14

Taft and his Colleagues

During the final years of his life, Taft 

demonstrated a marked sense of introspec-

tion. Especially when compared to Oliver 

Wendell Holmes Jr. and Louis D. Brandeis, 

two outstanding jurists who had awaited 

Taft in 1921, and were still on the Supreme 

Court when he resigned in 1930, shortly 

before his death. He harbored no illusions 

concerning his intellect or legal scholar-

ship. Further, “I have a tendency to length 

that I try to restrain,” he admitted in 1925. 

Justices “Holmes’ and [James C.] McReyn-

olds’ [decisions] are very[,] very short, and 

while .  .  . Holmes has a genius for giving a 

certain degree of piquancy and character to 

his opinion[s] by sententious phrases, I think 

[they] lose strength and value by his dispo-

sition to cut down. And this is also true of 

McReynolds.” For Taft, “the chief duty in a 

court of last resort is not to dispose of the 

case[,] but it is sufficiently to elaborate the 

principles, the importance of which justify 

the bringing of the case here at all, to make 

the discussion of those principles and the 

conclusion reached useful to the country and 

to the Bar in clarifying doubtful questions of 

constitutional and fundamental law.”15

Taft reflected some ambivalence in his 

views about Holmes, who sat next to the 

chief justice on the bench for the last half 

of Taft’s tenure. “He is in marvelously good 

form and greatly enjoys his old age [eighty-

five]. He is, in my judgment, a very poor con-

stitutional lawyer, but he is a most learned 

lawyer, especially in the common law, and 

he is brilliant, but he lacks the experience of 

affairs in government that would keep him 

straight on constitutional questions.”16 Taft’s 

belief that Holmes lacked experience in the 

affairs of government represented a serious 

matter for him. It led the chief justice to 

dissuade his eldest son Robert A. Taft from 

accepting an offer to serve as secretary to 

Holmes.

Taft expanded his comments in a later 

letter to Robert. Holmes “is a remarkable 

man. He is a very learned lawyer and has an 

acuteness of intellect preserved that is most 

exceptional. I think he has grown a little 

more flippant in his opinions, but he does 

great work and is the promptest man in his 

opinions that we have on the bench.” Nev-

ertheless, “he is not a great constitutional 

lawyer. I think he is quite defective in this 

particular branch of the law, but that is not 

due to his age—it is due to his training and 

point of view and to the influence Brandeis 

has had on him, but on the whole he is a very 

excellent member of the Court. . . .”  With un-

usual prescience, Taft added that “it is quite 

possible that he may live to bury several of 

us.”17 Indeed he did, including Taft himself 

and Justice Edward T. Sanford, both of whom 

died on the same day, March 8, 1930—which 

also happened to be Holmes’ birthday. “Of 

course,”  Taft conceded, “I don’t give him the 

cases that have the very heavy records and 

that require a great deal of work in reading 



COMMENTARY FROM CHIEF JUSTICE WILLIAM HOWARD TAFT, 1921–1929 55

them, but I give him important cases and try 

to give him cases that he likes.”18

Taft’s comments on Holmes may be con-

trasted with his observations about James C. 

McReynolds, widely considered to have been 

the most obnoxious and disagreeable jurist 

ever to serve on the High Court. “He is,” 

recalled his law clerk in 1936–1937, “all in 

all the most contemptible and mediocre old 

man I ever came in contact with. His selfish-

ness and vindictiveness are unbelievable.”19 

Taft complained that “McReynolds tries my 

patience. . . . He is . . . selfish beyond every-

thing, though full of the so called Southern 

courtesy, but most inconsiderate of his col-

leagues and contemptuous of everybody. A 

fine looking fellow .  .  . he has been spoiled 

for usefulness.”20

Taft served as chief justice during the 

terms of three presidents: Warren Hard-

ing, Calvin Coolidge, and Herbert Hoover.21 

Most effective with Harding, less influential 

with both Coolidge and Hoover, Taft died at 

the end of Hoover’s first year in the White 

House. By 1925, however, the chief justice 

fully realized that his once special access to 

its occupant was no more. “I have tried in the 

past,” he recalled to Robert,

to influence the President with ref-

erence to judicial appointments 

when I thought an opportunity ex-

isted to secure good men, but now 

Coolidge thinks I am too insistent 

on having good men, and am not 

sufficiently sympathetic with his 

Taft and Holmes (third from left) exiting the White House in January 1923 after calling on President Warren G. 

Harding. Taft would tell his son Charles that Holmes was “a very poor constitutional lawyer, but he is a most 

learned lawyer, especially in the common law, and he is brilliant, but he lacks the experience of affairs in gov-

ernment that would keep him straight on constitutional questions.” By 1929 Taft was accurately predicting that 

Holmes would not retire from the bench despite his advanced age, but would “remain in the harness as long as 

the harness will hold him.”
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trials with Senators, and I’m go-

ing to keep out of judicial selec-

tions hereafter. . . . [Indeed,] I don’t 

think I could make my voice prevail 

against a Senator, however much 

he might show the lack of judicial 

qualities in his proposed candidate. 

People can’t understand the outrage 

of the Senatorial interference in ju-

dicial appointments, and they don’t 

understand [further] how strong the 

leverage that a Republican Sena-

tor has in these days when so much 

depends, for the comfort of the 

President, and his achieving of his 

broad purposes, upon the vote of 

a two penny small minded United 

States Senator. I don’t think there 

are many senators who don’t come 

within that description.22

In point of fact, after Coolidge elevated 

Harlan F. Stone to the Supreme Court late 

in 1924, neither he nor Hoover were able to 

make another such appointment until Taft re-

signed in February 1930, with barely a month 

to live.

In Defense of Daugherty

Early in 1924, Taft made an interesting 

observation about the late President Hard-

ing’s beleaguered attorney general, Harry 

Daugherty.

In spite of all the attacks against 

Harry  .  .  .  he has stood up in the 

matter of judges and their appoint-

ment  .  .  .  and he secured on the 

whole, against the vicious system of 

Senatorial selection of candidates 

for political purposes, a good list of 

judges. But for him, Harding would 

have made a wreck of it, I fear, be-

cause he is not a lawyer and did not 

appreciate the importance of his 

selections. 

Indeed, “we ought ever to be grateful to 

[Daugherty] for that, and a good deal of this 

Senate feeling against him is due to his cour-

age in refusing to yield to poor candidates.” 

Taft added that Coolidge “would doubtless 

be relieved if he would insist upon resigning, 

but I don’t look for any such thing.”23

The 1924 and 1928 Elections

With the 1924 election a few months 

away, Taft commented on the split within 

the Democratic Party. Al Smith, the popu-

lar governor of New York, was supported by 

“the wets” and the Catholics, and opposed by 

Wilson’s son-in-law. Former Secretary of the 

Treasury, William McAdoo, was supported by 

“the drys,” the KKK, and the anti Catholics. 

“The bitterness of feeling between the two 

sides is deeper a good deal than mere party 

difference, and I think their troubles have just 

begun—at least I hope so.”24 The forthcom-

ing Democratic convention turned out to be 

the longest continuous such meeting (June 

24–July 9) in our history. Unable to choose 

between Smith and McAdoo after more than 

100 ballots, ultimately the convention settled 

on John W. Davis, a former ambassador to 

Great Britain, and a distinguished attorney. “I 

know John Davis well,” observed Taft, “and I 

know he would make a good President,” but 

“I don’t think he is going to be elected.” He 

predicted—correctly—that Robert La Follette 

“who primarily enters the field to defeat 

the Republican ticket, is going to find, as I 

think the Democrats are going to find, that 

he will draw more from the Democratic party 

on . . . labor than he will from the Republican 

party on the farmer.  .  .  .”25 As will be seen, 

Taft offered more extended comment on Al 

Smith as the 1928 election drew nigh.

By March 8, 1925, both Coolidge and his 

Vice President Charles Dawes had taken their 

oaths of office. Dawes chose to denounce the 

enduring and anti-democratic rules of the 

Senate to its assembled members. Along with 



COMMENTARY FROM CHIEF JUSTICE WILLIAM HOWARD TAFT, 1921–1929 57

his brethren, Chief Justice Taft listened, and 

later recalled that “Dawes made his speech 

and stirred up the monkeys. His manner was 

bad and did not leave a good impression, but 

what he said was God’s truth.” Indeed, his 

comments “however ill advised his manner, 

met a hearty response everywhere except in 

the Senate, and I think there the majority of 

the Senators realized the truth of what he 

said.”26

With Coolidge’s impressive reelection 

victory a thing of the past, the president 

nominated his current attorney general and 

college classmate Harlan F. Stone to be as-

sociate justice, his sole appointment to the 

Supreme Court during Taft’s tenure. “We are 

completely rejoiced in this,” Taft responded, 

and indeed Stone’s selection was “one emi-

nently fit to be made.” In 1925, his initial en-

thusiasm for Stone had not yet dissipated.

Stone is a strong addition to our 

bench, and it is a great pleasure for 

me to know that I rather forced the 

President into his appointment. The 

President was loath to let him go, 

because he knew his worth as At-

torney General, but I told him that 

I did not think it was fair to him not 

to give him the opportunity to ac-

cept the Bench if he desired it, and 

that he was the strongest man that 

he could secure in New York that 

was entitled to the place, and so he 

submitted the matter to Stone, and 

in that way we got him. 

Of course, Taft added, had Coolidge realized 

the difficulties he would have over his ap-

pointment of Michigan Republican Charles 

Warren as Stone’s replacement [the Senate 

Harlan Fiske Stone is “a strong addition to our bench,” wrote Taft about President Calvin Coolidge’s appointee 

in 1925, although he later expressed disappointment in him. Above, Stone testifies before the Senate Judiciary 

Committee on January 28.
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rejected him twice], “he never would have 

put him on the Bench, but that difficulty was 

the President’s own making and he could not 

blame Stone for it.”27

Upon receiving word from Helen that 

Judge Learned Hand had spoken recently to 

students at Bryn Mawr, Taft—who had ap-

pointed him to the Federal District Court in 

1909—recalled his nature. Hand “is a good 

fellow, a good judge[,] a bit erratic but a 

high minded public servant with a touch 

of cynicism at times. He and I have I think 

smoothed over some roughnesses [sic] of the 

past.” [Hand had supported Theodore Roos-

evelt in 1912]. Coolidge promoted Hand to 

the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, 

in 1924. Three years later, Learned Hand 

welcomed his cousin Augustus Hand to the 

same court—on which they sat together for 

more than twenty years. “He is very happy 

now that he has succeeded in securing the 

appointment of his cousin Gus Hand to the 

same Court—Gus is not as bright and scintil-

lating as Learned but he has better judgment 

and on the whole is the safer better judge[,] 

but both are good.”28

A year earlier, Taft had paid tribute to his 

old friend Elihu Root, former secretary of war, 

former secretary of state, and former U.S. 

senator from New York. As chairman of the 

1912 Republican Convention, he had been 

instrumental in securing Taft’s renomination. 

In 1926, Taft stated simply that Root “fits the 

measure of statesmanship rather more fully 

than anyone with whom I have come in con-

tact. He is an intellectual leader,” yet

he has not the qualities of leader-

ship that [Theodore] Roosevelt 

had—that is he has not the courage 

and instantaneous grasp of situation 

for leadership that Roosevelt had, 

but his judgment of political and 

state issues was much more trust-

worthy and wise and prudent. He 

was a most admirable complement 

to Roosevelt in the conduct of gov-

ernment, and it was only after Roo-

sevelt cut himself loose from Root’s 

influence that he made the really 

great mistakes of his life.29 

Darkening Shadows

Perhaps more so than with his sons, Taft 

shared increasing awareness of his failing 

health with his only daughter, Helen.

I want you to know that we are 

thinking of you whether you are 

thinking of us or not . . . I have been 

a son myself and know the obliga-

tions in such a relation are always 

felt more strongly by the older gen-

eration. This is natural, because the 

older generation has not so long to 

live and wants to keep up as closely 

as possible  .  .  .  with those whom 

they must look forward to in the 

near future to leaving. . . .30 

I’m not so sure, he later added, that “I don’t 

see that my mental faculities [sic] are dulling 

a bit and that it takes more work for me to 

get hold of questions and to dispose of them. 

However, I have to stay on the bench until 

1931 in order to earn my pension, and that 

I must struggle to do, unless I am so weak-

ened that I cannot do the work.”31 Indeed, 

such turned out to be the case. Taft resigned 

from the Court in February 1930, and died 

on March 8.

Chief Justice Taft was not the only ma-

jor national figure to consider his future in 

1927. In August, along with much of the na-

tional press, Taft was surprised to learn from 

President Coolidge that “he does not choose 

to run for reelection.” Possibly recalling the 

1912 election, Taft offered an interesting ex-

planation for the president’s choice of words:

I think he really wishes to avoid run-

ning  .  .  .  , that he has had enough, 

but the peculiar form which his 
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declaration takes seem to me to be 

an indication that while he wishes 

really to avoid a renomination, he 

does not care to put himself in a 

place where by the unanimous de-

mand of the party he may feel under 

obligation to run and will be con-

fronted with a previous statement 

by him that he would not run.32 

Meanwhile, Justice Holmes had celebrated 

his eighty-seventh birthday. Taft reported to 

Robert that his senior colleague “is study-

ing [Chief Justice Roger] Taney’s life. Taney 

lived to be 87 years and 8 months.” Hence 

Holmes will “only need 8 months more to 

equal Taney. He will die in harness,” con-

cluded Taft, “if he ever dies.”33 Taft returned 

to this subject in May 1929, following the 

death of the justice’s wife, Fanny Holmes. 

“It is a great mistake to suppose that he pro-

poses to surrender because of  her death.” He 

“did not propose to give up—that the matter 

would go right on. . . . He proposes to remain 

in the harness as long as the harness will 

hold him. He seems to have a great deal of 

reserve force. He wrote an opinion and sent 

it to me the day she died, and I don’t know 

but I shall give him another one before the 

month ends.”34

Two Final Battles

Two topics continually interested Taft 

during the final phase of his life; the 1928 

presidential election, and construction of the 

new building for his Court. Late in 1927, he 

observed that “everybody here seems to think 

that Al Smith will be the Democratic nomi-

nee, but that does not make the Democrats 

from the South or West feel very happy, and 

they are very much troubled over the ques-

tion of the election in case Smith is nomi-

nated.”35 Taft’s prescience once again might 

be noted.

The May 1927 issue of the Atlantic had 

featured a lengthy public letter from Smith 

that concerned both his Catholicism and the 

forthcoming presidential election in 1928. 

The chief justice found Smith’s statement to 

be “an admirably written document.” While 

Taft doubted that the letter “is read in Rome 

with the same enthusiasm with which it is 

read in this country . . . I am delighted to have 

it stated as it is and as strongly as it is.” In-

deed, “the usefulness of the Roman Catholic 

Church in our community is so great that I 

am most grateful for its presence.”36 It was 

one thing to applaud Smith’s accomplish-

ments as a Catholic Urban progressive and 

four term governor of New York. It was quite 

another thing, however, to support his presi-

dential aspirations.

For Taft, a life-long Republican entering 

the final two years of his life, Smith’s quest 

for the presidency remained problematic. 

Were he to be elected,

his defects would not appear in his 

Catholicism but they would grow 

out of his origin in Tammany and in 

the most vulgar and coarse political 

atmosphere of lower New York, and 

I have not been able to overcome the 

feeling that as President he might 

disclose some of the faults of that 

origin. 

Further, Taft doubted “if the publicity that has 

been given to [Smith’s letter] will eliminate 

the religious issue from the campaign, the 

presence of which I think is to be deplored. 

With the intolerance of those who hate the 

Catholics and oppose them, the letter will 

figure and intensify it.”37

On the eve of the election, Taft had be-

come markedly enthusiastic about Herbert 

Hoover, with whom he recently visited. He 

now concluded that the nominee “was re-

ally one of our great men,” one who “has the 

highest ideals and . . . the courage to follow 

them even when they seem to imperil his suc-

cess.” He saw the 1928 presidential campaign 

as essentially “a fight between the cities and 
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the country. . . . It was a concentration of all 

the vicious in the city against the conser-

vative, patriotic, God-fearing people of the 

country.” As for Smith, the Catholic vote, and 

anti-Catholicism, Taft asked why the Catho-

lics should

submit themselves to the leadership 

of such a man as Smith and Tam-

many, and hope to have in their 

political activities sympathies of 

people who know what desperate 

extremes they will resort to? One 

finds himself on the fence between 

the desperate bigotry of both the 

Methodists of the south and west[,] 

and the Catholics of the east. . . . I 

am greatly troubled at the danger of 

the invasion of the White House by 

Tammany and Tammany methods.38 

Although earlier Taft had expressed great 

confidence in Hoover as the candidate, the 

lame duck period between his election in No-

vember and his inauguration in early March 

1929 reflected marked disillusion with both 

the president-elect, and Hoover’s closest friend 

on the Supreme Court, Harlan F. Stone. The 

junior justice had been advising Hoover with 

some frequency on possible cabinet appoint-

ments. The chief justice thought that Hoover 

“might have had a wiser adviser, for I have not 

been greatly impressed with Stone’s judgment 

of m[e]n or things.” By this time, Taft was 

well aware that Stone had joined Holmes and 

Brandeis with increasing frequency in dissent 

from the positions taken by the so called “Taft 

majority,” consisting of Willis Van Devanter, 

McReynolds, George Sutherland, and Pierce 

Butler, often joined by both the chief justice 

and Justice Edward T. Sanford. In this, the fi-

nal year of his life, far from seeking unanim-

ity, Taft was merely content to keep his major-

ity intact, and by 1929 he could only count on 

minimal support—if that—from Stone.39

Nor was Taft very happy with the presi-

dent-elect who apparently “is a good deal of 

a dreamer in respect to matters of which he 

knows nothing, like the judicial machinery 

of our government.” Indeed, added the chief 

justice in writing to Robert, “it is a great 

comfort to me to feel that neither you nor I 

ask any favors from him. I have tried to give 

him the benefit of the best information I have, 

but he is evidently not at all impressed.”40 

But there was yet a greater source of tension 

between the president-elect and Taft. Again, 

it involved Justice Stone.

Well aware of extensive public criticism 

about the current state of American criminal 

law, during his first year in office Hoover 

determined to create a new commission to 

recommend appropriate reform. According 

to Taft, Hoover had found “so few” lawyers 

who represented “the kind of men whom he 

intended” to select as members. This situa-

tion may have strengthened his determina-

tion to name as chair of his new commission 

his close friend Stone, at this time the new-

est and youngest member of Taft’s Court. 

He confronted here, however, the implacable 

opposition of the chief justice, who insisted 

that with very limited exceptions, work on 

the High Court was a full-time job. Hoover 

“wanted to use our Court, but he cannot have 

our Court used that way unless they retire.” 

The president “thinks that Stone is keen to 

get on with the work. Stone tells me that he is 

not and wishes to be let alone on the Court.”41

Taft reminded Hoover that “the Court 

is a coordinate branch of the Government 

and has to function, and there are so many 

cases in which there is a difference of opinion 

[that] the necessity exists for the existence 

of the whole Court.” To be sure, there were 

“very valuable members,” including Holmes, 

Brandeis, and Sutherland “who could retire 

and accept positions on this Commission, but 

I don’t know whether they would want to. It 

is very hard to impress the President with the 

necessity of not bending the Court’s require-

ments to his.”42 Although Chief Justice Taft 

would have been delighted to see Brandeis 
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off the bench, “he did not know if Hoover 

could “induce Brandeis to retire. I think it 

unlikely. . . .” Moreover, “his anxiety to vin-

dicate certain views as a dissenting member 

of the Court would probably prevent his ac-

ceptance of such a suggestion.”

On the other hand, Van Devanter was 

also eligible to retire, but unlike Brandeis, for 

Taft “the loss of  Van Devanter to the bench I 

could not overestimate. He is a very remark-

able man[,] and admirably equipped to re-

vamp the criminal code and put it in [proper] 

condition.” No one knows, least of all Hoover, 

“the extent to which the whole Court are in-

debted to him for keeping them in line in 

reference to the condition of the law and 

their own decisions as well as the statutes.” 

The problem with Van Devanter, however, 

“is that he is opinion shy.” Hence, his ma-

jor contributions to the confidential Confer-

ences of the Court were unknown to most. 

Thus, Taft feared that the president “will not 

value Van Devanter as much as he should,” 

even though he had emphasized to Hoover 

that his appointment “represented a great op-

portunity  .  .  .  to make the best chairman of 

the commission that could be found in the 

United States. . . .” This “that I am writing to 

you is of course completely confidential.”43

Hoover, however, continued to press for 

Stone’s selection as chair of the commission, 

even as he carried on as a justice. “I have,” 

Taft informed his son, “been going through a 

trial with Hoover, in which he has attempted 

to take from our Court, and still retain him 

on the Court, his favorite Stone. I opposed 

President Hoover wanted newly-appointed Associate Justice Stone to chair a commission charged with survey-

ing the U.S. criminal justice system under Prohibition. Chief Justice Taft refused, saying that Hoover could only 

appoint a retired justice. But Taft wrote his son Robert that although Willis Van Devanter (above) was eligible for 

retirement, “the loss of Van Devanter to the bench I could not overestimate. He is a very remarkable man.” 

Hoover ultimately chose George Wickersham instead.
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it,” and indeed “submitted the question to the 

whole Court and they stood by me every one, 

so that he had to come down.”44 By the mid-

dle of May, the “trial” had ended, and per-

haps the chief justice can be pardoned for the 

tone of self-congratulation that appears in his 

report to his son Robert about its outcome. 

The president had finally decided to name 

George Wickersham, President Taft’s former 

Attorney General and senior partner in the 

still thriving New York City law firm of  Cad-

walader, Wickersham, and Taft [brother of 

the Chief Justice] as chair. William H. Taft, 

who had consistently and continually urged 

Wickersham upon the President after Hoover 

had floated his idea of the proposed commis-

sion, expressed his delight to his son:

I think it is an admirable appoint-

ment and that it is far and away the 

best he could do. . . . [Wickersham] 

is so much better adapted to such a 

position than Stone that I rejoice, al-

though it is greatly to the disappoint-

ment of Mr. Hoover. George has 

more administrative capacity in two 

minutes than Stone has in a much 

longer time, and then George’s judg-

ment is so much better than Stone’s 

that I think Hoover is really to be 

congratulated, although he gnashes 

his teeth over the result. 

Taft had already concluded that Hoover “is 

daft in respect to the qualities of our youngest 

member, Stone, because he has known him 

for a long time, and not being a lawyer has 

not had full opportunity to understand and 

gauge his qualities in action.”45 Meanwhile, 

“[t]he Senate has succeeded in making them-

selves even more ridiculous than they ever 

were, which is going a long ways.”46

Since June 1921 when Taft had as-

sumed the center seat, he had dreamed and 

schemed about a new and suitable home for 

his Court. By 1928, with Congress appar-

ently in a mood to appropriate many millions 

of dollars for federal building projects, and 

with the consistent support of Andrew Mel-

lon, Treasury Secretary to Warren Harding, 

Calvin Coolidge and Herbert Hoover—Taft 

brought to fruition his near decade of quiet 

persuasion of old congressional allies to fund 

a new court building. As he wrote with some 

accuracy to his youngest son, “my prayer is 

that I may stay long enough on the Court to 

see the building constructed. If I do, then I 

shall have the right to claim that it was my 

work, for without me it certainly would not 

have been taken up at this time. It really is 

very necessary.”47

Taft revealed that even before Congress 

got involved in the project, he had to persuade 

his colleagues to support it. By a bare major-

ity, they did. But Justices Holmes, McReyn-

olds, Brandeis, and Sutherland all questioned 

not only the necessity but also the desir-

ability for such a change. All four, it might 

be noted, had long maintained comfortable 

residences within Washington, wherein they 

had space for their law libraries and support 

staff. “My predecessors,” Taft recalled, “had 

always been against” the change, “but I think 

the present opponents are beginning to see 

how short sighted their feeling has been.”48

In addition to internal opposition within 

the Court, Taft also confronted attempts to 

defeat condemnation of the two lots adja-

cent to the Library of Congress, on which he 

hoped to see the new building constructed. 

He faced a challenge from Alva Belmont’s 

National Woman’s Party, which owned part 

of one lot as well as “an old broken down 

house that they claim to have some histori-

cal value,” to block the condemnation pro-

ceedings. The “old broken down house” 

had been the Old Capitol Prison until 1867 

when it was sold to George Brown, the ser-

geant at arms to the U.S. Senate. He in turn 

had converted it into a three-row structure 

that had later become the headquarters for 

the National Women’s Party. In fact, Taft in-

sisted, the structure “ought to be removed, 

but they are a lot of women who are most 

unprincipled and attempting to use every 
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method possible to squeeze up the amount 

they are to derive from the Government.”49 

The group “has heretofore obstructed us as 

much as its blackmailing members could.” 

By late 1928, however, Taft doubted “if the 

Woman’s Party will be able to do anything 

other than make obstruction.”50 Ultimately, 

the Party agreed to accept about $120,000 as 

settlement for the lot and structure. When all 

the other owners had completed negotiations 

for their compensation, the total costs just for 

the condemnation proceedings alone would 

total $1,768,000.51 Taft reminded his young-

est son that “we shall be building a building 

for a century, certainly.”52

Well aware of his declining health and 

without waiting for the promised appropria-

tion, the chief justice invited the prominent 

American architect Cass Gilbert to provide 

sketches, plans, and estimates to Congress. 

With considerable understatement, he in-

formed Helen that Gilbert “has been doing a 

good deal without [congressional] authority.” 

Taft was able to examine the plans as well as 

to view a model of Gilbert’s structure aptly 

described by legal scholar William Wiecek as 

“impressive, neoclassical in style, balanced, 

dignified, imposing, reverential, symmetri-

cal, majestic, intimidating, dramatic, and 

above all, awe-inspiring.”53 But Taft died two 

years before the ground-breaking ceremo-

nies in 1932.

What can be gleaned from this potpourri 

of spontaneous reactions by Chief Justice 

Taft during the final years of his life? Two 

examples of insights can be noted. (1) In 

1916 he had labelled himself as a “believer” 

in “progressive conservatism.”54 When one 

considers Taft’s career prior to 1921, this de-

scription seems valid. Most of the excerpts 

discussed above, however, are from the last 

years of Taft’s life, and by then his self-de-

scription had lost its accuracy. The chief jus-

tice had become almost addicted, as it were, 

to classical legal thought. The term described 

a still controversial legal tenet with four key 

components: a) “a complete disregard for the 

real world in which a minimum wage has 

been deemed necessary” b) an assumption 

that courts “were better equipped to judge the 

wisdom of policy” rather than the legislature 

that had adopted it c) an emphasis on legal 

formalism “which elevated rules, especially 

those relating to freedom of contract to a 

sacrosanct position,” and (d) “an unrelenting 

opposition to government intervention in the 

market.”55

Taft’s commitment to this philosophy 

is reflected in his negative comments about 

Holmes. Why did he consider Holmes a poor 

constitutional jurist? To a legal classicist, the 

Constitution was fundamental law, a pro-

tection against statutes “reflective of newer 

ideas and conditions.”  The flexibility Holmes 

demonstrated in supporting a wide variety of 

newly enacted state regulations offended the 

chief justice. Constitutional values for him 

were unchanging and immutable. Contrary 

to Holmes, Taft saw the Constitution as a 

barrier against undesirable change, not an in-

strument to facilitate it. He viewed Holmes’ 

constitutional suppleness as a result of un-

fortunate factors that had unduly influenced 

him—such as Holmes’ close friendship with 

Brandeis. Like most classical legalists, Taft 

probably would have agreed with Suther-

land that if the type of changes envisaged by 

Holmes and Brandeis were somehow deemed 

desirable, they had to come through outright 

amendment of the Constitution, not a per-

verse judicial twisting of its current words 

into improper usage.56

Although by 1929, Taft freely acknowl-

edged his fear that the time might come 

when the “Bolsheviki” [his term for Holmes, 

Brandeis, and Stone] could dominate his 

Court, he took heart in the fact that—in the-

ory at least—a bloc of four, Van Devanter, 

McReynolds, Sutherland, and Butler—often 

joined by Taft and/or Sanford, would make 

such a situation impossible. Such had indeed 

been the case during Taft’s last years on the 

bench, and he saw no reason why this align-

ment couldn’t continue on into the foreseeable 



64 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY 

future; assuming that he remained on the 

Court. It turned out that such an assump-

tion was untenable. Yet the hard-core bloc of 

four—sometimes joined by Charles Evans 

Hughes and/or Owen J. Roberts [Hoover’s 

replacements for Taft and Sanford] usually 

kept “the Bolsheviki” at bay, at least until 

1937 when the bloc began to shatter.

These concerns did not prevent Taft from 

offering observations on a variety of subjects, 

as seen above. His comments on the fall 1928 

presidential election between Hoover and 

Smith are of special interest in part because 

it was the last presidential campaign he ever 

witnessed. Further, he well understood the 

deeper significance of Smith running as the 

first Roman Catholic national nominee, sup-

ported by urban anti-prohibition interests. 

He also saw the force concealed in the link 

between opposition to Smith on religious 

grounds and Southern support for “the drys.” 

Correctly, he expected that Hoover would 

fracture the “Solid South,” something that had 

not occurred since the Reconstruction era.

Finally, in the variety of roles he dem-

onstrated in these excepts, that of husband, 

father, elder statesman, cynical observer, ju-

dicial administrator, chief justice to his col-

leagues, Taft managed to find humor where 

it might not be noticeable to others. He wrote 

of Nellie that “she goes to the Unitarian 

Church with me today because it is a rainy 

Sunday, and she prefers wet Unitarianism to 

wet orthodoxy, because she can go by car. I 

may in this way finally incorporate her in my 

church.”57
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their aftermath provide a cautionary tale of 

the ramifications of piercing the Court’s veil 

of secrecy.

Drew Pearson was born in Illinois, but 

at a young age he moved with his family to 

Pennsylvania when his father became a pro-

fessor at Swarthmore College.6 Pearson’s 

penchant for journalism developed early—

he started a neighborhood journal as a child, 

and as a teenager he began freelancing for 

the Philadelphia Bulletin.7 After graduating 

from Swarthmore (where he was the editor 

of the student newspaper), Pearson spent two 

years working with a Quaker organization to 

rebuild villages in Serbia.8 Following a brief 

stint as a professor,9 Pearson turned to jour-

nalism. He spent the early years of his ca-

reer abroad, selling articles about his travels 

to newspapers around the world,10 and then 

became a foreign editor for the United States 

Daily in 1926.11 His freelance work for the 

In the words of Justice Felix Frankfurter, 

“[t]he secrecy that envelops the Court’s 

work . . . is essential to the effective function-

ing of the Court.”1 However, the Supreme 

Court has not always been as shrouded in se-

crecy as it aspires to be.2 In the 1940s, a se-

ries of three leaks to journalist Drew Pearson 

exacerbated tensions on an already divided 

Court. Pearson’s “prediction” about Federal 

Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas 

was the first indication that the reporter had 

knowledge of the Court’s inner workings, 

though he did not speculate on the holding.3 

In the second leak, pertaining to the antitrust 

case United States v. South-Eastern Under-

writers, Pearson went so far as to forecast 

the outcome and caused the Court to delay 

its release of the opinion.4 For his third pre-

diction, Pearson went even further, naming 

the specific justices he believed would dis-

sent in Bridges v. Wixon.5 These leaks and 

Drew Pearson’s “Predictions”: 

Assessing the Stone Court’s 

Press Leaks

Abby R. West
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Baltimore Sun eventually earned him the role 

of  Washington correspondent.

In 1931, Pearson and fellow journalist 

Robert Allen teamed up to make a splash 

with their first book Washington Merry-Go 

Round (a title he later borrowed for his long-

running newspaper column),12 which heavily 

criticized President Herbert Hoover.13 Their 

sequel, More Merry-Go-Round, was far less 

successful and cost Pearson his job at the 

Baltimore Sun when the newspaper found out 

that he was one of its co-authors.14 Pearson 

and Allen’s third book fared better.15 The 

Nine Old Men ridiculed the Supreme Court 

for striking down New Deal legislation,16 and 

its attacks sometimes got personal. The pair 

called Chief Justice Charles Evans Hughes 

“the most pathetic figure” on the Court,17 

deemed Justice Willis Van Devanter a “fanat-

ical reactionary,”18 and asserted that Justice 

George Sutherland lacked brains.19 Despite 

its discourteous tone,20 the book earned its 

authors President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s fa-

vor, so much so that he chose them to break 

the story of his Court-packing Plan.21

With time, Drew Pearson’s reputation 

preceded him in Washington. As he became 

“one of the country’s most influential po-

litical columnists,”22 less flattering moni-

kers like the “Scorpion-on-the-Potomac”23 

and a “chronic liar” were attached to him.24 

Politicians called him a sponge “because he 

gather[ed] slime, mud and slander  .  .  .  and 

let[] them ooze out” in his reporting.25 Even 

Because of their scathing critiques in The Nine Old Men (1936), the President chose authors Drew Pearson and 

Robert S. Allen to break the story of his Court-packing plan.
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before Pearson made his three Court predic-

tions, his muckraking drew Justice Frank-

furter’s ire—the justice referred to Pearson as 

“that scavenger” in a diary entry from 1943.26 

Pearson once admitted that Frankfurter “de-

spises me.”27

Pearson also became known for getting 

inside scoops and publishing direct quotes 

from FDR’s internal Cabinet meetings.28 To 

gather information for his daily column, Pear-

son employed “leg men” to bring him leads.29 

He was not afraid to break political secrets 

and publish classified information, justify-

ing his revelations as work in defense of “the 

little guy.”30 Even with the FBI tapping his 

phones and the Office of  Naval Intelligence 

tailing him during the war, Pearson continued 

to publish secrets and scoops undaunted.31 He 

later described his going to “extreme lengths 

to protect news sources, even to the extent of 

talking to them in a moving automobile or in 

some out-of-the-way park where no micro-

phones can be hidden” because he assumed 

his “phone [was] tapped by so many different 

intelligence agencies.”32 Nor was he wary of 

taking political stances: Pearson defended the 

New Deal, favored military preparedness in 

advance of  World War II, and sought to ad-

vance legislation he preferred.33

Pearson and Allen expanded their jour-

nalistic ventures to the radio in 1935 with 

a Sunday evening broadcast.34 During the 

show’s “Predictions of Things to Come” 

segment, Pearson made predictions on any 

number of topics, including the outcomes 

of pending Supreme Court cases.35 The ra-

dio announcer introduced the segment by 

saying that Pearson’s predictions were accu-

rate eighty-six percent of the time; however, 

other calculations estimate his accuracy to 

have been far lower.36 Pearson’s “predictions” 

about how three pivotal Supreme Court cases 

would come down also ranged in accuracy 

and detail, sometimes guessing only the 

outcome and other times going so far as to 

name which justices would be in dissent.

The premature disclosures, which even 

the justices suspected were coming from in-

side their Conference room, contributed to 

the Court’s already-fractious environment. 

Although President Roosevelt had appointed 

eight of the nine justices serving in 1944,37 

there was an “internecine war . . . going on in 

the Court” that Chief Justice Harlan F. Stone 

described as “not very pleasant” and possibly 

harmful to the institution.38

Some scholars have attributed the ten-

sion to the chief justice’s lack of  leadership.39 

Writing to Justice Hugo L. Black shortly af-

ter President Roosevelt elevated Stone to 

the role of chief justice, Justice William O. 

Douglas predicted that it would “not be a 

particularly happy or congenial atmosphere 

in which to work,” and he was right.40 En-

joying intellectual debate, Stone extended 

Conferences to hours-long affairs,41 which 

his brethren criticized for “dragging out” 

discussion and leaving them “depressed.”42 

Stone also extended the window of time that 

members of the Court had to comment on 

draft opinions, likely enabling the justices to 

splinter.43 The chief justice himself admitted 

he “had much difficulty in herding [his] col-

lection of fleas.”44

Another factor contributing to the Court’s 

tension was the ideological divide between 

the justices. Even before the leaks, fac-

tions within the Stone Court had developed. 

Frankfurter, Robert H. Jackson, and Owen J. 

Roberts, who “favored a limited role for the 

courts”45 and tended to chart a more con-

servative course,46 were often pitted against 

Black, Douglas, Frank Murphy, and Wiley 

Rutledge, who “viewed the Court as an es-

sential grantor of constitutional rights.”47 

Frankfurter went so far as to begin referring 

to them as “The Axis”—a pejorative that 

carried particular weight against the back-

drop of the war.48 The ideological rift became 

apparent in a series of cases pertaining to 

compulsory flag salute laws.49 In the 1940 

Gobitis case, Frankfurter wrote for the Court 
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to uphold the expulsion of two Jehovah’s 

Witnesses students who refused to partici-

pate in the Pledge of Allegiance on religious 

grounds.50 Black, Douglas, and Murphy all 

joined Frankfurter’s Gobitis opinion. How-

ever, the trio switched sides only three years 

later in Barnette to strike down the compul-

sory flag salute, angering Frankfurter.51

The justices’ personalities clashed too, 

which often led to “interpersonal bicker-

ing.”52 Many were “supremely ambitious 

and confident individuals,” vying to control 

the Court.53 Frankfurter and Douglas came 

to “sincerely dislike[] each other,” with the 

former referring to the latter as “one of the 

two completely evil men I have ever met.”54

The divisions on the Stone Court ush-

ered in a new era of dissent. Between 1837 

and 1940, only 8.5% of cases featured a dis-

sent,55 a stark contrast to 52% of cases hav-

ing a dissent in 1943.56 Even if the justices 

agreed on the major issue in a case, “sharp 

conflict on subsidiary questions” still arose.57 

With the Court’s internal relations in an al-

ready precarious position, the possibility that 

Pearson would pierce the Court’s veil of se-

crecy stood to worsen divisions.

The Predictions

Pearson made his first “prediction” for 

Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural 

Gas.58 At stake was whether an administra-

tive body had overstepped its bounds in regu-

lating rates for an essential wartime resource. 

The Natural Gas Act of 1938 required natural 

gas rates to be “just and reasonable,” giving 

the Federal Power Commission (FPC) the 

power to fix rates by order but not providing 

a formula for doing so.59 Pursuant to its au-

thority under the Act, the FPC reduced the 

rates the Hope Natural Gas company could 

In his Sunday evening broadcast that featured a segment called “Predictions of Things to Come,” journalist Drew 

Pearson made predictions about the outcomes of three pending Supreme Court cases in the 1940s. He is pictured 

here in 1964 with LBJ: Pearson’s daughter-in-law, Bess Abell, served as Lady Bird Johnson’s social secretary.
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charge after municipal customers in Ohio and 

Pennsylvania challenged the company’s rates 

as excessive.60 This had the effect of reducing 

Hope’s operating revenues by $3,609,857.61 

After the Fourth Circuit reversed the FPC’s 

order, finding it confiscatory, the Commission 

appealed to the Supreme Court.62

After oral argument, five justices voted 

to uphold the FPC’s rate, Justice Rutledge 

among them. Rutledge wavered, however, 

approaching Douglas on December 31, 

1943, to warn him that he “might reconsider 

his vote.”63 Because Roberts was not par-

ticipating in the case, Rutledge’s vote dic-

tated whether the Court would be split 5–3 

or 4–4. Rutledge instructed Douglas to “go 

ahead and print for release on January 3” be-

cause it “was not likely he would change his 

mind.” He nevertheless cautioned that it was 

a possibility.64

On January 2, 1944, Pearson made his 

first prediction:

Tomorrow the Supreme Court will 

split wide open on one of the most 

important economic questions in 

the country—the fixing of gas and 

electric rates.  .  .  .  Yesterday the 

court was split four to four, with the 

ninth Justice trying to make up his 

mind by today.65

Although Pearson’s prediction was slightly 

incorrect, as not all nine members of the 

Court were participating, his point that one 

justice was still deciding how to vote ap-

peared to allude to Rutledge’s reconsidera-

tion of the case. By broadcasting his knowl-

edge of internal Court deliberations, Pearson 

drew attention to a case with important doc-

trinal and practical considerations.

The Court was reportedly “in an uproar 

the next morning.”66 Jackson recounted that 

Roberts demanded the justices meet to discuss 

Pearson’s report and brought a “transcript” of 

“Tomorrow the Supreme Court will split wide open on one of the most important economic questions in the 

country—the fixing of gas and electric rates. . . . Yesterday the court was split four to four, with the ninth Justice 

trying to make up his mind by today” reported Pearson in his first leaked account of the justices’ deliberations. 

But his information was partially inaccurate as Owen J. Roberts (seated second from left) was not participating 

in the decision.
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the broadcast with him to that meeting. It is 

unclear how Roberts would have acquired a 

transcript of the previous evening’s broadcast 

so quickly, but Jackson recalled his having 

a “transcript” which “showed that Mr. Jus-

tice Rutledge couldn’t make up his mind.”67 

Jackson might have misspoken, intending 

to say “script,” which Pearson apparently 

departed from in not mentioning Rutledge 

by name in his broadcast.68 Roberts also re-

quested that the Court delay handing down 

the decision69—a tactic the Court would 

employ to render Pearson’s later predictions 

less accurate. Presenting more inside knowl-

edge about the Court, Pearson reported in 

his Merry-Go-Round column the following 

week that “Justice Roberts had fumed and 

sputtered over news leaks.”70

Several justices developed theories on 

the leak’s source. Notably, Douglas was ab-

sent from the January 3 Conference “on 

account of illness,”71 causing Frankfurter 

to identify him and Murphy as “the mostly 

likely suspects.”72 Roberts too was suspi-

cious of Murphy.73 Douglas wrote to Stone 

on January 5 that he was “completely ig-

norant of the source of Pearson’s news 

and .  .  . as distressed about the whole affair 

as any member of the Court.” He insisted that 

he “did not see or talk with Pearson . . . be-

tween December 31, 1943 and January 3, 

1944.”74 (Douglas had, however, attended a 

New Year’s Eve party at which Pearson was 

present.)75 Douglas did admit to telling his 

secretary Edith Waters that the decision 

might not be handed down on January 3, but 

insisted that he “never mentioned the matter 

outside [his] office.”76

Within days, rumors began to circulate 

that Douglas had relayed the story to Wash-

ington insider and former Supreme Court 

clerk Tommy Corcoran, who had then passed 

it along to Pearson.77 Douglas did admit to 

having seen Corcoran at the New Year’s Eve 

party,78 but the justices were regular fixtures 

in the capital’s social scene and insisted they 

never discussed particular cases when social-

izing.79 Douglas staunchly refuted the Corco-

ran allegation, calling it “an outright, con-

temptible lie” without “a grain of truth in it.”80

Rutledge ultimately did not reconsider 

his vote, and the Court upheld the Commis-

sion’s rate in an opinion released as planned 

on January 3, 1944.81 Douglas’s opinion ac-

knowledged the “public importance of the 

questions presented” and focused on the 

“impact” of the rate order, rather than the 

“theory” the FPC used to issue it.82 Because 

the rate “enable[d] the company to operate 

successfully, to maintain its financial integ-

rity, to attract capital, and to compensate its 

investors for the risks assumed,”83 it was just 

and reasonable as the Act required.

As was common for the Stone Court, the 

case drew many separate opinions. Frank-

furter dissented to note that Congress ac-

quiesced to judicial review of utilities regu-

lation by delegating only limited power to 

the Federal Power Commission.84 Because 

Congress “specifically provided for court re-

view of such orders,” Frankfurter wanted to 

return the case to the FPC for it to articulate 

explicitly the criteria it had used in determin-

ing that the rates were just and reasonable.85 

Black and Murphy wrote a brief concurring 

opinion specifically objecting to Frankfurt-

er’s assumption that Congress had acqui-

esced to judicial review.86 Reed dissented, 

taking issue with the Commission’s process 

in fixing Hope’s rate, writing that “a major 

error . . . was committed in the disregard by 

the Commission of the investment in explor-

atory operations and other recognized capital 

costs.”87 Jackson also dissented, first provid-

ing a historical overview of the natural gas in-

dustry and emphasizing the need to conserve 

the nation’s supply, then expressing his desire 

that the Court articulate a “rational way of 

reaching . . . conclusions.”88 That the justices 

were so fractured prompted skepticism as to 
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whether the decision in Hope was the Court’s 

final word on rate setting.89

Though Douglas’s majority opinion did 

not expressly overrule Smyth v. Ames’s “fair 

value” doctrine, analysts viewed Hope as 

having that effect.90 In Smyth, the Court had 

determined whether rates were reasonable by 

comparing them to the fair value of the prop-

erty the company was using to provide the 

service.91 By abandoning Smyth’s formulaic 

approach, the Hope case established an “ex-

ceedingly deferential standard” of judicial 

review of the Federal Power Commission’s 

regulation of public utility rates.92 FPC 

Chairman Leland Olds described the case 

as “mark[ing] the beginning of a new era” in 

utilities regulation and enabling “‘very large 

possible reductions’ in electric rates.”93

In the months following the Hope “pre-

diction,” the media began to pay particular 

William O. Douglas, author of the majority opinion in Hope Natural Gas, wrote to Chief Justice Stone to deny that 

he was the source of the leak. He had been ill and missed the Conference where the justices discussed how the 

leak could have happened.
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attention to disputes on the Court. Three days 

after the leak, a Pennsylvania newspaper de-

scribed the “feud” between Black and Frank-

furter as a “battle over conflicting views of 

constitutional law” and “a fight to the finish 

over the next chief justiceship.”94 Though 

it did not mention Pearson’s prediction, the 

article demonstrated that journalists were at-

tuned to the Court’s discord. Another article 

in mid-February criticized the Court for fail-

ing to set an example as a government insti-

tution by “sail[ing] along serenely” “amid 

the natural confusion and tension incident to 

war.”95 In March, just before Pearson’s next 

leak, one journalist remarked that he looked 

forward to Supreme Court decisions “for the 

criticism of the members that most of the 

dissent opinions contain.”96 Such opinions 

included Frankfurter’s impassioned Barnette 

dissent, where he called out other justices’ 

“deciding shift of opinion”97 on compulsory 

flag salutes, and Stone’s dissent in Schneider-

man—a high-profile case about the govern-

ment’s effort to strip a Soviet-born Commu-

nist of his U.S. citizenship98—where he not 

only criticized the majority for not giving 

deference to the lower court’s factual find-

ings but also deemed Douglas’s concurring 

opinion an “emasculation of the statute” at 

issue.99 With the public growing increasingly 

aware of the Court’s internal strife, Pearson 

made another prediction.

In early January 1944, just days after 

Pearson’s Hope prediction, the Court heard 

oral argument in the South-Eastern Under-

writers case.100 The South-Eastern Under-

writers Association (SEUA), which controlled 

ninety percent of fire and allied lines insur-

ance in six states, was indicted for price-

fixing in violation of the Sherman Anti-Trust 

Act. The Association allegedly fixed insur-

ance premium rates for members and used 

“coercion and intimidation” to compel non-

member insurance companies to adopt them 

as well. SEUA conceded its conduct was an-

ticompetitive and monopolizing, but it argued 

that the Sherman Act did not apply because 

fire insurance was not interstate commerce.101

SEUA had precedent on its side, as the 

Court had held that insurance was not inter-

state commerce in Paul v. Virginia in 1868.102 

Not only was the government asking the 

Court to overturn its own precedent, but it 

was also seeking to “end[] 150 years of state 

regulatory dominance over insurance.”103 And 

the stakes were high for SEUA, as the Court’s 

finding that the Sherman Act applied to the 

insurance industry would allow prosecutors 

to pursue its members “on criminal price-

fixing charges.”104

Pearson’s leak about this case came in his 

Sunday radio broadcast on March 12, 1944:

One of the most controversial cases 

before the U. S. Supreme Court in-

volves government prosecution of 

196 fire insurance companies for 

criminal violation of the Anti-Trust 

Act. Fire insurance companies con-

tend that they should not be subject 

to Federal laws, but regulated only 

by states. So here is my prediction—

This week the Supreme Court will 

hand down a split decision in favor 

of the government and against the 

insurance companies, ruling that in-

surance can be regulated by the Fed-

eral Government.105

After hearing of the prediction, the justices 

held another Conference and “deliberately 

withheld the release of the final opinion 

to make it appear as though Pearson was 

wrong.”106

Speculation about the identity of the 

leaker resumed. Roberts suspected Douglas 

of  being Pearson’s source,107 but the justices 

considered other sources too. They ques-

tioned their law clerks about the leak; Stone 

indicated that he wanted to meet with all 

the clerks but later called the meeting off.108 

Another apparent investigative route proved 

fruitless for Stone: he reportedly attempted 
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to contact Pearson to get a copy of his tran-

script, but the reporter declined to take the 

call.109

The justices used the additional time 

to keep working on the case. In late April, 

at the same time as Black was revising his 

majority opinion reversing the judgment,110 

the Court considered switching to a per cu-

riam opinion affirming the judgment that the 

Sherman Act did not apply to SEUA. Doug-

las circulated a draft per curiam opinion in 

late May111 because some justices objected to 

overturning Paul v. Virginia to hold that the 

law was constitutional with only a four-vote 

majority.112 Roberts and Reed were not par-

ticipating, thus the majority consisted of four 

justices, leaving three justices in the dissent. 

“[A] majority of us have concluded that we 

should not overturn the precedents which un-

derly this case and render a decision of such 

farreaching consequences without the con-

currence of a majority of a full Court,” wrote 

Douglas in his draft.113 After Black insisted 

that upholding laws as constitutional with 

a four-vote majority was less tenuous than 

striking down laws as unconstitutional with 

only four justices,114 the Court decided not to 

issue the per curiam opinion.

The Court did not release the South- 

Eastern Underwriters opinion until June 5, 

1944. That the decision was announced 

the day before D-Day likely reduced public 

awareness of the case. Black’s majority opin-

ion held that fire insurance constituted inter-

state commerce which the federal government 

could regulate; thus, the Sherman Act applied 

to the Association.115 He highlighted the eco-

nomic importance of the insurance industry, 

stating that insurance “has become one of the 

largest and most important branches of com-

merce” and noting the industry’s employment 

of 524,000 workers.116 He then described the 

interconnected nature of the insurance busi-

ness between states as “a continuous and in-

divisible stream.”117 Finally, Black refuted 

SEUA’s argument that Congress did not intend 

the Sherman Act to apply to interstate insur-

ance, noting the Act’s “sweeping” language 

and the “spirit and impulses” behind it.118

The Court again fractured, producing 

numerous separate opinions. Chief Justice 

Stone dissented, stating that the Court mis-

conceived the question before it. “It is not a 

question as to whether or not Congress had 

power to regulate the insurance companies 

or some phase of their activities,” he wrote, 

“but rather whether Congress did so by the 

Sherman Act.”119 Stone noted that precedent 

established that the formation of insur-

ance contracts was not itself interstate com-

merce.120 Frankfurter wrote a brief separate 

opinion, joining Stone’s opinion but writing 

to emphasize that Congress did not intend 

the Sherman Act to apply to insurance.121 

Despite his agreement with the majority that 

insurance was interstate commerce, Jackson 

dissented in part to propose a less disruptive 

regulatory approach: states should continue 

to regulate insurance in tandem with Con-

gress’s enacting laws on the subject.122 Be-

cause Congress had not indicated a desire 

to “federalize responsibility for insurance 

supervision,” Jackson would have left the 

states’ power intact.123

That the Court sided with the govern-

ment to allow federal regulation of the insur-

ance industry is not surprising in context. In 

stark contrast to their predecessors who struck 

down many New Deal measures,124 the jus-

tices on the Stone Court favored “deference 

to economic legislation and regulation.”125 

Still, the case “‘precipitated widespread con-

troversy and dismay.’”126 Insurance compa-

nies feared antitrust liability, and states were 

concerned their taxation of insurance com-

panies might be struck down.127 In response 

to these concerns, Congress swiftly enacted 

the McCarran-Ferguson Act in March 1945 

to limit South-Eastern Underwriters’ impact, 

returning regulation primarily to the states 

and creating an insurance industry exemp-

tion from antitrust laws.128
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Pearson was not yet done forecasting 

Supreme Court decisions, though over a year 

passed before his next “prediction” in Bridges 

v. Wixon. Harry Bridges was a prominent la-

bor leader who had sent the Secretary of La-

bor a telegram criticizing a judge’s order and

threatening to strike. In 1941, Bridges pre-

vailed before the Supreme Court in his sub-

sequent First Amendment case.129 In 1945,

Bridges was before the Court again, this time

facing deportation.

The first formal deportation proceeding 

in a decades-long effort to deport Bridges be-

gan in 1938.130 The Secretary of Labor dis-

missed this proceeding because Bridges was 

not then a Communist Party member as the 

statute required.131 But Congress amended the 

statute in 1940 to include past affiliation,132 

so Bridges was accused of having been a 

“member[] of or affiliated with” the Com-

munist Party, which “advised and taught” the 

forceful overthrowing of the government.133 

He sought a writ of habeas corpus.134

A month and a half after the Court heard 

oral argument in the Bridges case, Drew 

Pearson made another prediction. During 

his broadcast on May 20, 1945, Pearson ac-

curately stated not only the outcome of the 

case, but also named the specific justices who 

would dissent:

One of the most controversial labor 

questions in many years has been 

the deportation of Harry Bridges 

to Australia on the grounds that he 

was a Communist. Attorney Gen-

eral Biddle ordered his deportation, 

but the matter has been appealed 

to the Supreme Court. So here is 

my prediction. Very soon the Su-

preme Court will hand out its opin-

ion in which Justices Stone, Roberts 

and Frankfurter will vote to send 

Bridges out of the country, but the 

majority of the court will rule that 

Bridges did not try to overthrow the 

United States Government, and that 

he can remain here.135

In response to the leak, Chief Justice 

Stone penned a confidential memorandum 

for the Court on May 21, 1945.136 The memo 

informed the justices of the prediction, indi-

cating that “it [was] reported to” Stone that 

Pearson named him, Roberts, and Frank-

furter as dissenters,137 accurately reflecting 

how the Court was divided. That same day, 

Douglas wrote another memorandum to 

the chief justice, apparently anticipating that 

he would again be a suspect. His wording 

echoed his missive in response to the Hope 

Natural Gas leak:

I am greatly distressed to lear [sic] 

what Drew Pearson last night said 

about the Bridges case and the 

vote of the various members of the 

Court. For myself I want to say that 

During his broadcast on May 20, 1945, Pearson accu-

rately stated not only the outcome of Bridges v. Wixon, 

but also named the specific justices who would dis-

sent: Frankfurter, Stone, and Roberts. On June 18, the 

Court ruled 5–3 that the government could not prove 

labor leader Harry Bridges (pictured) was affiliated 

with the Communist Party and overruled his deporta-

tion order.
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(1) I have never mentioned the case 

to anyone besides members of the 

Court and members of my staff—

not even to Mrs. Douglas. (2) I have 

had absolutely no relationship or 

connection (social or otherwise) with 

Drew Pearson.138 

Again, the justices suspected one another 

of having leaked to Pearson. Frankfurter and 

Roberts accused Douglas, Black, and Mur-

phy, each of whom denied the allegation.139 

Years after the incident, Douglas stated in his 

autobiography that Pearson had revealed his 

source to Douglas—though Douglas still did 

not name the supposed source—and “Felix 

had been far from the mark.”140 Douglas and 

Pearson did exchange a series of  letters about 

the Bridges leak in 1968, but their recollec-

tions were hazy and unilluminating.141

Pearson’s third leak also affected the tim-

ing of the Court’s decision. Douglas relayed 

that the Bridges opinion was supposed to be 

handed down on May 21, 1945, but the chief 

justice called a special Conference at which 

the justices “decided to put the case off a week 

or two” because “Frankfurter rebelled at ren-

dering Drew Pearson’s story reliable,”142 tak-

ing a similar tack as they had after the second 

leak. A United Press story announcing the 

case’s outcome mentioned that the Court had 

originally scheduled to adjourn on May 28, 

“but a welter of important cases forced post-

ponement.”143 Again, the Court happened to 

announce its decision on a day when Wash-

ington was otherwise engaged, this time with 

providing General Eisenhower “the most tu-

multuous and heart-felt homecoming recep-

tion in this capital’s history.”144

In his majority opinion reversing 

Bridges’ deportation, Douglas examined the 

meaning of “affiliation” as used in the im-

migration statute, opting for a narrow con-

struction. According to Douglas, acts proving 

affiliation “must evidence a working alliance 

to bring the proscribed program to fruition,” 

rather than mere cooperation with its lawful 

activities.145 Attorney General Francis Bid-

dle had not used this narrow standard when 

evaluating the Bridges case. Though Bridges 

was in charge of publishing the union’s jour-

nal, the Waterfront Worker, the publication 

did not advocate forcefully overthrowing the 

government.146 Thus, Bridges was not suf-

ficiently affiliated. Douglas then turned to 

membership, the proof of which he found 

similarly lacking.147 The majority’s opinion 

repeatedly emphasized that while deporta-

tion is not a criminal proceeding, it can be a 

“most serious” penalty which “visits a great 

hardship on the individual.”148

Again, the Court did not achieve una-

nimity. Jackson did not participate,149 and 

Murphy wrote a concurring opinion in which 

he described the “concentrated and relent-

less crusade” to deport Bridges.150 Because 

Douglas declined to reach the constitutional 

questions in his majority opinion,151 Murphy 

tackled them directly in his concurrence, 

deeming the immigration statute and subse-

quent proceeding “obvious[ly]” unconstitu-

tional for deporting an immigrant because 

he had exercised his First Amendment right 

to free speech and association.152 As Pearson 

predicted, Stone dissented, joined by Roberts 

and Frankfurter, criticizing the Court for its 

unprecedented decision to set aside the at-

torney general’s deportation order based on a 

collateral attack when there was evidentiary 

support for his factual findings.153 In Stone’s 

view, because one witness provided sufficient 

evidence that Bridges was a Communist Party 

member, and the applicable hearsay rules 

did not render such evidence inadmissible, 

Bridges should have been deported.154

The war may have influenced the out-

come. Two years prior, the Court had sided 

with an individual with Communist ties in 

Schneiderman, declining to rescind his natu-

ralization.155 When Stone was drafting his 

Schneiderman dissent, Frankfurter wrote to 

him expressing frustration that “present war 
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considerations” and “our relations with Rus-

sia” were “the driving force behind the result 

of this case.”156 Murphy denied Frankfurter’s 

allegation in Schneiderman,157 but in Bridges 

Attorney General Biddle admitted he con-

sidered whether deporting Bridges would 

“affect our international unity—meaning our 

relation to Russia[.]”158 Thinking “[t]he war 

would be over before the final decision was 

reached,”159 Biddle went ahead with the de-

portation. When the case reached the Supreme 

Court, the war was still ongoing, and the 

justices may have felt a need to placate the 

country’s ally.160

Some columnists praised the Supreme 

Court for its decision not to deport Bridges.161 

An opinion column declared June 18, 1945 

“a great day for American democracy” and 

commended the Court for offering “a lot 

of protection” for civil rights.162 However, 

Douglas also received letters condemning 

the decision, indicating that public opinion 

was divided just like the Court had been. 

One concerned citizen wrote to Douglas, “It 

is too bad such an immoral and unscrupu-

lous individual can get court protection as 

did he.”163

Not only did the Court’s holding upset 

some Americans, but conservative columnist 

Westbrook Pegler recognized that the leak it-

self also had repercussions.164 A few months 

after Pearson’s Bridges broadcast, Pegler con-

demned Pearson’s disclosure of the leak:

Our people don’t try to break into 

the privacy of the court . . . and de-

cent editors would refuse to jump 

the gun on court decisions even if 

Justice Douglas claimed that Justice Roberts (pictured) became embittered by the Pearson leaks. Roberts stepped 

down from the Court in July 1945, but the leaks were not the only reason he had become disenchanted with his 

colleagues.
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they did have pipe-lines into the 

chambers. We feel that such news 

can wait until it is announced in 

open court because this court has 

been debauched enough already un-

der the New Deal without our ex-

ploiting the destruction of public 

confidence in its integrity.165

Looking at the aftermath of the predic-

tions more broadly, all of the justices claimed 

to be frustrated by Pearson’s predictions, but 

Roberts was especially irritated. In Douglas’s 

words, Roberts, who served on the Court 

from 1930 to 1945,166 became “very, very 

bitter”167 at some point late in his tenure. 

Roberts and Black were once good friends, 

with the former hosting the latter at his Phila-

delphia farm on weekends.168 However, Rob-

erts became disenchanted with Black after 

he sought him out to discuss the leaks. When 

Black insisted neither Douglas nor Mur-

phy was responsible, and assured Roberts 

he had “implicit confidence” in them, Rob-

erts “thereafter became very embittered.”169 

Rather than taking part in the customary 

“Judicial Handshake,” a tradition adopted by 

Chief Justice Melville Fuller in the 1880s,170 

Roberts reportedly refused to enter the rob-

ing room to shake hands with the other jus-

tices but would instead wait in the hall for the 

messenger to robe him.171 He also declined to 

lunch with the other justices, arrived late to 

Conferences, and spoke only to Frankfurter 

and Jackson.172

When speaking to Princeton professor 

Walter Murphy173 to compile an oral history 

in 1961, Douglas credited the source of Rob-

erts’s bitterness to a “very accurate” predic-

tion from Drew Pearson.174 Douglas could 

not remember which case the prediction in-

volved but mentioned that Roberts brought 

a copy of Pearson’s prediction to the Con-

ference.175 Other justices recalled Roberts 

bringing the prediction to the Conference 

where they discussed the Hope Natural Gas 

leak.176 Douglas also recalled being absent 

due to illness from the Conference to discuss 

the leak that angered Roberts, lending further 

support to the likelihood that he was describ-

ing the Hope Natural Gas prediction.177

Though Douglas credited Roberts’s frus-

tration to the leaks, there were other possible 

causes. First, Roberts took issue with “the 

decisions of his activist colleagues,” dissent-

ing fifty-three times in his last full Term.178 

Second, Roberts was “especially embittered” 

by the 1944 case Smith v. Allwright.179 In 

1935, Roberts wrote for the Court in Grovey 

v. Townsend to uphold the exclusion of Black

Americans from Democratic Party member-

ship and primary elections.180 Nine years

later in Smith, the Court expressly overturned

Grovey and required states to allow Black

voters to vote in primary elections.181 What-

ever the source of Roberts’s ire, he resigned

from the Court in July 1945.182 Because the

justices could not even reach a consensus on

the wording of their formal appreciation let-

ter to him, one was not sent.183

The Pearson leaks were one of many 

sources of dissention on the Stone Court. 

Absent the leaks, there would still have been 

strife. The Court was full of strong person-

alities184 which Chief Justice Stone was 

not well-equipped to rein in, its docket was 

full of tough cases with broad societal sig-

nificance, and the uncertainty of war loomed 

large. That said, the leaks added further con-

flict to the already discordant Court, and 

their increasing level of detail and accuracy 

led many to suspect they were coming from 

inside the justices’ Conference room. The 

breakdown of trust amongst the justices and 

the delays in handing down important opin-

ions were serious consequences of Pearson’s 

repeated breaches.

Drew Pearson’s predictions for the Stone 

Court were far from the first—or last—Su-

preme Court leaks in history. Justice Doug-

las might have been linked to one of the two 

leaks in the high-profile Roe v. Wade case,185 
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as he did not step down from the Court un-

til 1975.186 In July of 1972, the Washington 

Post published a story describing how Chief 

Justice Warren Burger convinced the Court 

to delay deciding Roe until the next Term. 

According to the Post, Burger initially voted 

with the dissenters, but assigned the Court’s 

opinion to Justice Harry A. Blackmun.187 

Douglas protested, as he was the senior as-

sociate justice in the majority who usually 

would have been entitled to make the assign-

ment. Burger then convinced Blackmun to 

withdraw his opinion and let the case be re-

argued. The article relayed that Douglas had 

written a memorandum that “explain[ed] in 

detail all the events that had led to the failure 

to decide,” which Douglas threatened to file 

as a dissenting opinion to the Court’s order 

setting the cases for reargument.188 That the 

Post had such intimate knowledge of the jus-

tices’ moves and countermoves—which it at-

tributed to “reliable sources”—and especially 

of the Douglas memorandum suggests it had 

inside knowledge. Douglas’s response to the 

story was reminiscent of his Pearson pro-

testations: he was “upset and appalled,” and 

insisted he “never breath[ed] a word . . . [to] 

anyone outside the court.”189 Another leak 

occurred just before the Court handed down 

its decision in Roe; Justice Lewis F. Powell’s 

law clerk Larry Hammond confessed to speak-

ing with a TIME reporter,190 who published a 

story predicting that the Court “ha[d] decided 

to strike down nearly every anti-abortion law 

in the land.”191

In the 1940s, the Stone Court was di-

vided well before Drew Pearson made his 

first prediction. The often-forgotten Pear-

son leaks may not have been the root of the 

tension, but they were another catalyst that 

caused havoc, furthered dissention, and de-

layed important opinions. Justice Roberts’s 

own colleague credited his frustration with 

and ultimate departure from the Court in part 

to his outrage at the press leaks. The Pearson 

leaks and their aftermath provide a useful 

indication of the repercussions of compro-

mising Court confidentiality.
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negate the 1820 Missouri Compromise and 
was seen as horrible by many opponents of 
slavery, but it may have been the best and 
possibly the only way to placate the South 
and prevent the break-up of the Union at 
the time.

In the history of the Supreme Court, few 
events have drawn so much scholarly atten-
tion as the so-called Court-packing Plan put 
forth by Franklin D. Roosevelt in 1937. Start-
ing with the 1938 instant history by Joseph 
Alsop and Turner Catledge, The 168 Days, 
the Court fight has been pictured as the idi-
otic brainchild of an arrogant president be-
sotted by his great electoral victory in the 
1936 election. The story as repeated in his-
tories of the period and countless textbooks3 
can be summarized as follows:

During Roosevelt’s first term, the presi-
dent and Congress enacted the New Deal, a 
liberal—indeed revolutionary—program in 
order to confront the worst economic crisis in 
the nation’s history. But the “nine old men,” a 
term given the justices by Drew Pearson and 
Robert Allen,4 struck down as unconstitu-
tional one measure after another, often by a 
narrow 5–4 majority. In the 1936 presiden-
tial campaign FDR did not even mention the 
Court, and he won by the greatest margin in 
our history. He interpreted the popular vote 
as a mandate not only to continue the New 
Deal, but also to bring into line the judiciary, 

Many years ago, when I was a graduate 
student at Columbia, I took a course on the 
Civil War and Reconstruction with Profes-
sor Eric McKitrick. At the time, the leading 
historiography of the era held the war inevi-
table, and that a series of bad judgments led 
to the firing of the first shot at Fort Sumter.1

McKitrick took a different view, and his 
idea of how historians should interpret the 
past would inform both my teaching and re-
search throughout my career.2

Historians, McKitrick argued, too often 
started with the end result and then worked 
backwards, so that each step along the way 
looked as if it inevitably led to the next. As a 
result, “A” led to “B” which led to “C” and so 
forth until the tragic ending. What historians 
should do is start, not at the end, but at the 
beginning. What options did the actors have 
at “A”? Did they have any alternatives, such 
as “A-1” or “A-2,” and examine why the par-
ticipants at the time chose “A” over any of the 
alternatives. They could not know that choos-
ing “A” would lead to a particular result, and 
historians needed to question why out of  
three or four options, the actors chose a par-
ticular one. Moreover, if we focus on choices 
at that stage, and put ourselves in the same 
state of knowledge as they had at the time, 
very often we will find that of all the options, 
the one chosen made the most sense. Yes, 
Stephen Douglas’s “Popular Sovereignty” did 
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so that, as he explained it, all three horses of 
the constitutional troika—the executive, the 
legislative, and the judicial—would be pull-
ing together for the common good.

In February 1937, he introduced a bill to 
reorganize the judicial branch and help out 
the “overworked” high court by adding one 
new member for each justice who did not re-
tire upon reaching the age of seventy (up to a 
total of six new justices). FDR had not had a 
single vacancy on the high court that he could 
fill in his first term, and the bill clearly aimed 
at the Four Horsemen—James C. McReyn-
olds, George Sutherland, Pierce Butler, and 
Willis Van Devanter—who had resolutely 
voted against every state and federal measure 
involving economic reform. Time and again 
Roosevelt declared that there was nothing 
wrong with the Constitution; the problem lay 
with how the justices interpreted it.

A political firestorm erupted with horri-
fied Republicans and many Democrats charg-
ing FDR with trying to “pack” the Court, and 
the president did little to help his cause by 
misleading Congress and the public about the 
real reasons for the plan. Even after the Court 
began handing down favorable decisions in 
the spring, Roosevelt ignored his advisors 
who urged him to abandon the plan. He con-
tinued to fight until July when the Senate re-
committed his bill by a lopsided 70–20 vote.

Soon afterwards not only did the Court 
approve every New Deal measure that came 
before it, but resignations allowed FDR to 
appoint eight new justices, elevating a ninth 
to be chief justice. This was more than any 
president since George Washington. Roos-
evelt claimed that he may have lost the battle 
but won the war, a judgment few historians 
have accepted.5

We now have two new additions to the 
growing library on the Court fight, Laura 
Kalman’s FDR’s Gambit: The Court Pack-
ing Fight and the Rise of Legal Liberalism, 
and Michael Nelson’s Vaulting Ambition: 

FDR’s Campaign to Pack the Supreme 
Court. Nelson’s book, which we will dis-
cuss later on, hews a great deal toward the 
standard interpretation, starting with the title 
and the assumption that an arrogant president 
brought down all the troubles on his head. 
But he does a far more sophisticated job of 
treating the steps taken by Roosevelt in those 
168 days.

****************

One of the pleasures enjoyed by review-
ers is receiving a new book by an author 
whose work we know and admire. Laura Kal-
man is the doyenne of constitutional and le-
gal historians. As I have told the readers of 
this journal over the years, this is a relatively 
small field, in which we all know each other 
and read each other’s work. So in the spirit 
of “truth in advertising,” or to be more spe-
cific, “truth in reviewing,” let me say that I 
have known Laura for many years and have 
been impressed over and over again by her 
studies of Legal Realism,6 her biography of 
Abe Fortas,7 and other works.8 It is not that 
I always agree with her, but I must take ev-
erything she says seriously, since it is always 
the result of extensive research and careful 
reasoning.

While Kalman did not study with Pro-
fessor McKitrick, she did her doctoral work 
with another outstanding historian, John 
Morton Blum (whom, I might add, also in-
fluenced my own work).9 What is new and 
stimulating in FDR’s Gambit is Kalman’s 
assertion that at each and every step—from 
Roosevelt’s first decision to challenge the 
Court until the Senate buried the measure—
FDR and his advisors could legitimately 
believe that circumstances were in their fa-
vor, that Congress would eventually back 
the plan, and that the overwhelming vic-
tory in the 1936 election would provide the 
momentum not only to see the plan through 
to success, but also to hammer home to the 
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justices how out of step they were with the 
American people.

From the very beginning, despite some 
opposition on Capitol Hill, “virtually all an-
ticipated that Congress would soon approve” 
FDR’s proposal. After all, there was the re-
sounding electoral victory the previous No-
vember, the support of Majority Leader Joe 
Robinson in the Senate, the promise of pa-
tronage (some 100,000+ federal jobs), and 
easy access to radio and newspapers. (88) 
The fact that the Republicans opposed it 
meant little; the 1936 elections had left the 
GOP with pitifully small minorities in both 
the House and Senate.10 Senator Carter Glass 
of Virginia opposed the bill but lamented “I 
will fight it. But what’s the use? I think Con-
gress will do anything in the world that the 
President tells them to do.” (125)

Yet although the administration expected 
eventual success, FDR and his advisors were 
not naïve. No one thought victory would be 
swift or easy. Moreover, once the Washington 
Evening Star editorialized on February 8 that 
Roosevelt was trying to pack the Court with 
judges who would support the New Deal, the 
charge of “Court-packing” became the rally-
ing cry of the opposition. Even so, in a survey 
of some thirty Washington news correspon-
dents who knew and covered Capitol Hill, 
more than two-thirds predicted that although 
there would be a lot of “squawking,” the bill 
would pass. Moreover, Roosevelt would not 
be the first president to challenge the Court; 
Congress had adjusted the Court’s size seven 
times between 1801 and 1869. In addition, 
Attorney General Homer Cummings, the chief 
architect of FDR’s plan, heard privately from 
members of Congress that even if the presi-
dent did not get everything he wanted, he 
would certainly get most of it. (112)

Almost immediately after the president 
released his proposal, a number of represen-
tatives and senators, as well as some state of-
ficials, suggested alternative proposals that 

would, in effect, have given Roosevelt what 
he wanted. One bill would have given full 
salary pensions to justices who retired, since 
it was widely believed that a few members of 
the high court held on because they did not 
have the private wealth to live comfortably. 
This would have provided FDR two or three 
appointments immediately, but the question 
was whether they would actually resign. 
While in fact such a bill did pass later in the 
year, and Willis Van Devanter did step down, 
no one could count on that in February.

The other alternative involved a variety 
of constitutional amendments. Commentators 
at the time believed that any plan to change 
the make-up of the Court, or to require super-
majorities to declare an act of Congress or of 
a state unconstitutional, or to give Congress 
an override by repassing any law declared 
unconstitutional by a two-thirds vote of each 
house, would appease those who worried that 
FDR’s plan violated the Constitution. Here 
again, if we look at the alternatives avail-
able, only the repeal of Prohibition through 
the 21st Amendment had gone quickly; an 
amendment to outlaw child labor, although 
it had a great deal of popular support, had 
stalled after 33 states had ratified, and had 
never been adopted, a fact well-known to 
the administration.11 In balancing options, 
a rational person could easily conclude that 
any proposed amendment might stall, and 
the relief the New Deal sought from hostile 
courts could be years in coming—if ever. In 
the meantime, every sign, every headcount, 
indicated that Congress would eventually ac-
cede to the president’s request.

Roosevelt did make one mistake, when 
he justified his proposal as a means to make 
the courts, and especially the high court, 
more efficient. Chief Justice Charles Ev-
ans Hughes sent a letter to Senator Burton 
Wheeler (D-Mont.) declaring that the Su-
preme Court was up to date on its docket, and 
increasing the number of justices would not 
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enable the Court to work any more efficiently 
but would simply cause delay. “There would 
be more judges to hear, more judges to con-
fer, more judges to discuss, more judges to be 
convinced and to decide.” Many newspapers 
across the country treated the Hughes letter 
as front-page news, often printing it in full.

(If there is one criticism I have of this 
book, it is that Kalman does not treat in 
full the reaction of the justices—not just 
that to a man they opposed the bill, but that 
they actively let that opposition be known. 
The Hughes letter, for example, came about 
in part because Justice Louis D. Brandeis 
steered Wheeler to the phone to speak to the 
chief justice.12 How effective the judicial op-
position was can be inferred from Robert H. 
Jackson’s comment to FDR after the fight that 
“the old man [Hughes] put it over on you.”13)

Yet, how effective was the Hughes let-
ter? And how effective were the statistics pri-
vately supplied by Hughes to the Washington 
Post showing that the lower federal courts 
were no more backlogged because of aging 
justices than the Supreme Court?14 Or to be 
more specific, how effective did the letter 
seem to the president and his allies? Michael 
Nelson believed it “had a powerful effect,” 
and in 1943, Jackson declared that the letter 
“did more than any one thing to turn the tide 
of the Court struggle.”15

Kalman, however, writes that the letter 
“did not end administration predictions of 
victory, halt calls for compromise, or trans-
form public opinion.” (165) Richard Fried-
man maintains that after the “first flurry of 
excitement” it was rarely discussed, and vari-
ous Roper polls still showed a plurality of 
people supporting the bill, believing some-
thing had to be done to rein in the Court.16 
Here again, the facts available to Roosevelt 
and his close advisors made continuation of 
the fight perfectly logical. In the short run, 
she concludes “it does not seem that the 
Hughes letter mattered all that much.” (166)

What followed closely upon the chief 
justice’s letter may have mattered. On March 
29, 1937, what many called “White Monday,” 
the Supreme Court unanimously upheld the 
National Firearms Act as well as the revised 
Railway Labor and Frazier-Lemke Acts.17 
Opponents of the court bill immediately 
charged that the problem had never been 
the so-called “nine old men,” but instead the 
New Dealers’ sloppy bill drafting. The real 
shocker of White Monday, however, came 
with the Court’s 5–4 reversal of a case they 
had decided the Term before.

In the earlier Morehead case, Owen J. 
Roberts had joined the Four Horsemen to 
strike down a New York State minimum wage 
law, resulting in a hue and cry from both 
liberals and conservatives. President Roos
evelt charged that the decision created a 
“no-man’s-land” in which neither federal nor 
state governments could act. Former presi-
dent Herbert Hoover and most Republican 
newspapers also joined in denouncing the 
decision.18

Then in the fall of 1936 the Court heard 
another case dealing with the State of  Wash-
ington’s minimum wage law for women, a 
statute almost identical to the New York law. 
This time both Hughes and Roberts joined 
the three liberals—Brandeis, Stone, and Car-
dozo—to uphold the law.19 A great deal has 
been written about this case as well as Rob-
erts’ vote,20 but we are concerned here with 
how the administration reacted. Did these 
four decisions affect their evaluation of the 
situation? As one critic put it, now that Roo-
sevelt had caught the train, why keep chas-
ing it?

It seems that there was evidence aplenty 
that the opinions, even though they upheld 
New Deal measures, indicated weakness 
by the Court, as well as increased pressure 
to put FDR’s bill through. Attorney General 
Homer Cummings noted that the shift of a 
single vote meant that the Constitution meant 
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something different on March 29, 1937 than 
it did on June 1, 1936. The Herald Tribune 
noted that if the Parrish decision had come 
a year earlier it would have had greater sig-
nificance, “but now the political damage to 
the court has been done.” The Washington 
Merry-Go-Round predicted that Roosevelt 
“seems sure of getting virtually what he 
wants.” FDR allies such as Maury Maverick 
declared “we are getting along fine with our 
Supreme Court plans.”

What did change was that both FDR 
supporters as well as opponents of the bill 
began talking about compromise, especially 
after the Court upheld the Wagner Labor Re-
lations Act and government-supervised col-
lective bargaining on April 12.21 For support-
ers, with the Court finally paying attention to 
the real world, perhaps it wasn’t necessary 
to put six more justices on the bench. Oppo-
nents said that if they sweetened the retire-
ment package, the president would soon have 
vacancies. Why go through such an awful 
fight that, no matter who won, would weaken 
the court?

Today, we all know how the fight turned 
out, but in 1937, Kalman argues, “no one 
could be certain that the Court would not 
backtrack” after Parrish or the Labor Board 
decisions. After all, everyone had thought 
that the ultraconservative view of due pro-
cess in Lochner v. New York (1905) had been 
dead and buried, but conservatives brought 
it back to life in Adkins v. Children’s Hospi-
tal (1923).22 Charles Wyzanski, who argued 
some of the labor board cases, believed that 
the pressure from the Court fight influenced 
the justices a great deal. Take that pressure 
away and no one could tell what the Court 
would do; after all, it still had the hard-core 
bloc of the Four Horsemen, and as had been 
made abundantly clear, all they needed was 
one more vote. Perhaps the battle had been 
won, but that certainly was not clear in the 
spring of 1937, and there were still important 

New Deal measures whose constitutionality 
had yet to be determined. A one-vote mar-
gin of victory was razor-thin, and “Roberts 
Land,” FDR told reporters on April 16, was 
no safer than “No-Man’s-Land.” (186) Con-
tinuing the fight made sense.

Interestingly, many people did not really 
understand the Court very well, and although 
FDR hoped his fireside chats would serve as 
an educative seminar, reporters found that 
most Americans had little understanding of 
how the Court worked, or of its importance 
except when it impacted them personally, 
as farmers found out after the Court struck 
down the very popular Agricultural Adjust-
ment Act.23 Nonetheless, public opinion data 
found that a majority of Americans wanted 
change on the Court, with nearly two-thirds 
believing justices should have to retire at 
age seventy-five. Public opinion favored a 
more liberal court by a margin of six to four. 
(189–90)

Opponents of the measure, as well as 
some of Roosevelt’s allies, began to seek a 
compromise that would end the fight. Look-
ing back, perhaps this is the road that Roos-
evelt should have taken. He would have been 
able to name new blood to the bench, and in-
stead of worrying that the Court would back-
track, he could have ensured that it remain 
friendly to New Deal measures. Moreover, 
nearly all of these proposals provided for full 
pay after retirement, a sure-fire lure to get at 
least two of the conservatives off the bench.

According to Kalman, though, the presi-
dent and his advisors already had a number 
of bills in mind to expand the New Deal 
and were in no mood to compromise. They 
needed a Court that would not stand in the 
way of economic recovery. Postmaster Gen-
eral James Farley threatened to withhold 
patronage from any Democrat who failed to 
support the court plan, a step which appar-
ently only stiffened the resolve of opponents. 
Yet, it is at this point that things went south.
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On May 18, Justice Devanter announced 
that he would take advantage of the newly en-
acted Sumners retirement bill and step down 
at the end of the Term. With one vacancy in 
hand, many supporters as well opponents of 
the measure believed that if the president 
was willing to compromise, he would still 
be able to get at least two more vacancies 
on the Court. A key would be whether the 
high court struck down Social Security as 
unconstitutional.

Then on May 24, the Court upheld the 
old-age pensions of Social Security by a 
vote of 7–2, with only Butler and McReyn-
olds dissenting. It also sustained the unem-
ployment insurance provisions by 5–4, and 

upheld a state unemployment compensation 
law, again by 5–4.24

It would seem that Roosevelt had won. 
For reasons that have still remained murky, 
Owen J. Roberts—who had voted against 
New Deal measures eleven times—had now 
joined Hughes and the three liberals per-
manently. Although many of his supporters 
urged the president to abandon the fight, 
FDR was not ready. “It was not certain,” he 
said later, because “even with a liberal Court, 
the basic principle of ensuring a steady flow 
of new vigor and new intellectual approach 
into the personnel of the Court, would still 
be a sound one.” The emergency that had 
led him to propose the bill, as far as he was 

Laura Kalman’s FDR’s Gambit: The Court Packing Fight and the Rise of Legal Liberalism, and Michael Nelson, 
Vaulting Ambition: FDR’s Campaign to Pack the Supreme Court, offer different interpretations of the 1937 Court-
packing episode. Kalman argues that there was enough positive evidence that FDR (pictured on the campaign 
trail in 1936) would win to justify his keeping up the nearly six-month battle, whereas Nelson claims that at every 
point an arrogant FDR ignored reality and made the wrong decision.
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concerned, had not ended with the victory of 
Social Security. (207) He would, as Kalman 
claims, “come closer to victory than many 
expected.” (208)

Then on June 14, the Senate Judiciary 
Committee voted the bill down by a 10–8 
vote, and the majority attacked the proposal 
in blistering language. Saying nothing about 
the Court’s decisions, it derided the bill as 
no better than a “temporary expedient,” and 
within a short time an expanded Court would 
“become once more a court of old men, grad-
ually year by year falling behind the times.” 
The report attacked every reason the admin-
istration had given as a lie, and the measure 
should “be so emphatically rejected that its 
parallel never again will be presented to the 
free representatives of the free people of 
America.”25

The vituperative wording of the report in 
some ways boomeranged, according to Kal-
man, giving FDR a legitimate reason to keep 
fighting. Talk of compromise ended after 
Senator Joe Robinson, who had been prom-
ised the first vacancy on the bench, dropped 
dead on July 15. Several senators opposed to 
the bill met the next day and admitted they 
did not have the votes to defeat it if it came 
to the floor. Right on up to the final floor 
vote—no matter what we now know—evi-
dence existed that FDR could win, and so he 
carried on the fight. On Tuesday, July 20, the 
president’s secretary Stephen Early wrote in 
his diary that “the belief was expressed today 
that this Court Bill is going to work out sur-
prisingly and satisfactory to all concerned.”

Two days later, on July 22, the Senate 
voted 70 to 20 to recommit the bill to the 
Judiciary Committee to draft procedural re-
forms for the lower courts. The 168 days had 
ended with what appeared to be a major de-
feat for Franklin D. Roosevelt.

One of the pleasures of  Kalman’s book is 
that it is illustrated, not by still photographs 

of the president and justices and members of 
the Senate, but by contemporary cartoons, 
which not only are more interesting (and 
more fun) but also buttress her argument 
that despite some setbacks, right up to the 
end it appeared Roosevelt would get his plan 
through.

Before going further, let us turn to the 
other book on the Court fight.

*******************

Michael Nelson’s Vaulting Ambition is 
the first in a new series from the University 
Press of  Kansas, “Landmark Presidential De-
cisions,” modeled after its highly successful 
series of “Landmark Supreme Court Deci-
sions.” According to David Congdon, the 
senior editor of the Press, all books will be 
short, with a maximum of 50,000 words. The 
Press has ten more volumes under consid-
eration, including studies of George Wash-
ington’s decision to step down after two 
terms, James Polk’s annexation of  Texas, and 
Dwight Eisenhower’s interstate highway pro-
gram. Nelson, a professor of political science 
at Rhodes College, is the editor of the series.

In some ways, Nelson’s account seems 
to fall into the traditional story—Roosevelt, 
besotted by his great victory in the 1936 
election, unwisely decides to take on the Su-
preme Court, and makes one mistake after 
another before the Senate vote in July finally 
killed the plan. On closer examination, how-
ever, Nelson is doing what Kalman does; he 
starts at the beginning and examines each 
step along the way. But where Kalman finds 
FDR making rational judgments that justify 
his actions, Nelson finds seven decisions to 
be wrong-headed and unjustifiable.

The seven decisions Nelson examines are:

1. Pack the Court—plus;
2. Present the Court-packing decision

as something other than it was;
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3.	 Take for granted the support of con-
gressional Democrats;

4.	 Go public with a different justifica-
tion for the court bill;

5.	 Attack the justices for acting politi-
cally, but underestimate their politi-
cal savvy;

6.	 Do not compromise—until it is too 
late; and

7.	 Sacrifice the executive reorganiza-
tion bill to campaign for the court 
bill.

Nelson also throws into the mix Roos
evelt’s plan to reorganize the executive 
branch, following the suggestions of a 
committee headed by public administra-
tion scholar Louis Brownlow. As FDR told 
Brownlow, “the primary object of the study 
should be to discover and invent ways and 
means to give the president effective mana-
gerial direction and control over all depart-
ments and agencies of the executive branch.” 
(29–30) By itself, this would have been a 
major battle, since from the founding of the 
Republic Congress had considered it one of 
its prerogatives to determine the organization 
of the other branches. But Roosevelt had not 
consulted either the senior members of Con-
gress or even his own Cabinet over the estab-
lishment of the Brownlow Committee or the 
provisions of the reorganization bill. A bill 
to reorganize the judiciary—again, one for 
which FDR did not consult with anyone ex-
cept Attorney General Cummings—seemed 
to many people a bridge too far. Moreover, in 
presenting both bills, the president not only 
failed to solicit advice, but made it clear to 
congressional leaders that he was not seek-
ing their opinion but informing them of what 
they had to do.

Looking back, we know that Roosevelt’s 
explanation that the bill aimed at judicial ef-
ficiency and getting new blood on the Court 
was false. What he wanted, and according to 

Nelson it would have been better if he had 
come right out and said it, was that the Court 
was blocking reform and in doing so harm-
ing the American people. By the time he gave 
a Fireside Chat and spoke at a Democratic 
Party victory dinner in March, several weeks 
had passed and his new—and more honest—
rationale that the Court was pulling against 
the people’s will, seemed lame.

Kalman makes a strong case that Roos
evelt relied on the magnitude of his 1936 
election victory to justify his belief that the 
people approved of the New Deal and that 
the Democratic Party would recognize that 
the presidential victory had been the vehicle 
in which the super majorities in both houses 
had ridden to victory. Nelson believes this 
to be a mistake. FDR’s success in getting all 
but one of his first-term legislative proposals 
passed by Congress led him—and many of 
his supporters as well as opponents—to be-
lieve him unbeatable.

Nelson and Kalman both make the point 
that many Americans, especially Roosevelt’s 
opponents, worried that FDR’s proposals, 
both on the judiciary and executive reorgani-
zation, mirrored steps taken in Italy by Mus-
solini and in Germany by Hitler. It did not 
help when Il Duce was quoted as endorsing 
America’s “trend toward Fascism’s idea of 
strong, central authority” or when the Nazi-
controlled German press praised the Court-
packing plan. Nelson makes more of a point 
of this and argues that the Senate was far 
more divided than many people, including 
FDR, believed. When several senators met 
with him at the end of February to suggest 
a compromise, Roosevelt laughed in their 
faces.” He resolved to stick to his course and 
“let the opposition blow itself out.”

Where Kalman claims that there was 
always sufficient reason for Roosevelt to 
push on, Nelson says that the president’s as-
sumption that Congress would support him 
blinded him to political realities. While most 
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Democrats agreed that something had to be 
done to allow the New Deal to pass consti-
tutional muster, this did not translate into 
automatic support for the Court-packing bill. 
Many senators could not accept or even re-
peat FDR’s initial false claim that all he was 
trying to do was improve judicial efficiency. 
When Roosevelt finally went public in his 
March 9 radio talk, most Americans still 
supported the bill, but a large number felt he 
should have been honest with them from the 
beginning.

As the situation deteriorated, and as the 
Court began to approve New Deal legisla-
tion, many Democrats suggested that it was 
time to abandon the court bill. According to 
Nelson, as late as June FDR could have nego-
tiated a compromise, one in which he might 
have gotten at least two additional vacancies 
on the high court. But he refused to do so, 
and he lost not only on the court bill, but the 
antagonism he aroused doomed executive re-
organization as well.

******************

So, who do we believe? Laura Kalman, 
who argues that at each step of the five and 
a half month fight there was enough positive 
evidence that Roosevelt would win to justify 
his keeping up the battle, or Michael Nelson, 
who claims that at every point FDR, due to 
his arrogance and ambition, ignored reality 
and made the wrong decision? The failure of 
the court bill would seem to support Nelson; 
in the end, Roosevelt lost. And yet . . . 

Historians and political scientists every 
now and then run polls to determine who the 
best and worst presidents have been. In every 
one of them, the three top-ranked men have 
been George Washington, Abraham Lincoln, 
and Franklin Delano Roosevelt. While none 
of the three is perfect, historians seem to 
agree that Lincoln and Roosevelt were mas-
ter politicians. (Political parties as we know 
them today did not exist in Washington’s 

time, but he proved adept at negotiating po-
litical hazards in setting up the basis of gov-
ernment as we know it today.)

It is hard to believe that someone who so 
successfully negotiated the political hazards 
of both the Great Depression and World War 
II would be completely blind to the obstacles 
thrown against the court bill. While Nelson’s 
characterization of Roosevelt as arrogant 
may be in some senses true, anyone who, as 
Disraeli put it, climbs the greasy pole, is to 
some extent arrogant. But being arrogant and 
ambitious does not necessarily blind one to 
political realities. Kalman makes, I think, a 
good case that Roosevelt read the situation 
accurately, although what is possible is that 
he failed to perceive that behind the overt 
support lay an opposition that would even-
tually overwhelm the effort. Nelson sees the 
opposition and places it up front, leading to 
inevitable failure. I am not so sure.

*****************

Coda. The Court fight had consequences. 
Whether it led the justices to alter their view 
of New Deal measures is questionable. We 
shall probably never know the real reason 
that Roberts changed his mind, but the record 
shows that he voted on the Parrish case weeks 
before Roosevelt unveiled his plan. What 
is far more certain is that the appointments 
FDR made to the Court, starting with Hugo 
Black in August 1937, quickly provided the 
president with a majority that considered the 
administration’s economic measures con-
stitutional. “We lost the battle,” he claimed, 
“but we won the war.” The Court changed, he 
declared, “What a change!” (Nelson, 75)

But the Court fight gave new life to the 
near moribund Republican Party, and Roos-
evelt’s efforts to purge the conservatives from 
the Democratic Party in the 1938 mid-term 
elections backfired. Not only did the Demo-
cratic numbers in both houses drop sharply, 
but Roosevelt would never again have the 
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control over the party and the Congress that 
he had enjoyed in his first term.26 Congress 
passed the last of the New Deal measures, 
the Fair Labor Standards Act, in 1938.27 Had 
World War II not happened, with the people 
electing Roosevelt to unprecedented third 
and fourth terms, one wonders whether he 
would enjoy the high ranking he has today.

While Nelson for the most part follows 
the traditional story of Roosevelt’s reversal of 
fortune after the fight, Laura Kalman chooses 
to tell a different story, how all of the various 
strands of the Court fight led eventually to 
a new and dominant jurisprudence, the rise 
of Legal Liberalism.28 But that is a story for 
another day.
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